Fractional Sobolev spaces on Riemannian manifolds

Michele Caselli, Enric Florit-Simon and Joaquim Serra

February 7, 2024

Abstract

This article studies the canonical Hilbert energy $H^{s/2}(M)$ on a Riemannian manifold for $s \in (0,2)$, with particular focus on the case of closed manifolds. Several equivalent definitions for this energy and the fractional Laplacian on a manifold are given, and they are shown to be identical up to explicit multiplicative constants. Moreover, the precise behavior of the kernel associated with the singular integral definition of the fractional Laplacian is obtained through an in-depth study of the heat kernel on a Riemannian manifold. Furthermore, a monotonicity formula for stationary points of functionals of the type $\mathcal{E}(v) = [v]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 + \int_M F(v) \, dV$, with $F \geq 0$, is given, which includes in particular the case of nonlocal s-minimal surfaces. Finally, we prove some estimates for the Caffarelli-Silvestre extension problem, which are of general interest.

This work is motivated by [13], which defines nonlocal minimal surfaces on closed Riemannian manifolds and shows the existence of infinitely many of them for any metric on the manifold, ultimately proving the nonlocal version of a conjecture of Yau ([22]). Indeed, the definitions and results in the present work serve as an essential technical toolbox for the results in [13].

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1	
2	The	fractional Laplacian on a closed manifold (M,g)	aplacian on a closed manifold (M,g)	
	2.1	Spectral and singular integral definitions	4	
	2.2	Properties of the kernel	7	
		2.2.1 Heat kernel estimates	8	
		2.2.2 Estimates for the singular kernel $K_s(p,q)$		
	2.3	Extension definition		
3	The fractional Sobolev energy		21	
	3.1	Several definitions and their equivalence	21	
	3.2	A note on noncompact manifolds		
	3.3	Monotonicity formula for stationary points of semilinear elliptic functionals and s-minimal		
		surfaces	27	
	3.4	The fractional Sobolev energy under inner variations	33	
	3.5	Estimates for the extension problem		
Re	eferer	nces	40	

1 Introduction

In recent years we have seen a great development of the theory of nonlocal equations. The simplest example of a nonlocal operator is the fractional Laplacian, $(-\Delta)^{\sigma}u = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (u(x) - u(y)) \frac{1}{|x-y|^{n+2\sigma}}$, where $\sigma \in (0,1)$ and $u : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$. Formally, it corresponds to the σ -th power of the usual Laplacian, and it is,

therefore, an operator of order (of differentiation) 2σ . Another way to look at it is as the operator arising from the Euler-Lagrange equation of the functional

$$\mathcal{E}(v) = [v]_{H^{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n} (u(x) - u(y))^2 \frac{1}{|x - y|^{n + 2\sigma}},$$

which involves a fractional Sobolev energy term. There are precise multiplicative constants one should put in front of these objects and which will be given later, but we will omit them in the introduction for the sake of exposition.

The present work addresses how the fractional Sobolev energy $H^{\sigma}(M) = W^{\sigma,2}(M)$ and the associated fractional Laplacian on M have a natural, canonical interpretation in the case where M is a closed Riemannian manifold. We give several definitions for these objects and show them to be identical, which justifies their canonical nature. Moreover, we obtain fundamental properties for these objects thanks to a deeper study of their different definitions. We give a brief account in what follows:

Let (M^n, g) be an n-dimensional, closed Riemannian manifold, with $n \ge 2$. Let us start by giving the definition of the fractional Sobolev seminorm $H^{s/2}(M)$ —for convenience and consistency with the notation in our paper [13], throughout the paper we put $\sigma = s/2$, where $s \in (0,2)$.

The $H^{s/2}(M)$ seminorm can be defined in at least three equivalent ways:

(i) Using the heat kernel¹ $H_M(t, p, q)$ of M, we can put

$$K_s(p,q) := \int_0^\infty H_M(p,q,t) \, \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}.\tag{1}$$

We then define

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 := \iint_{M \times M} (u(p) - u(q))^2 K_s(p,q) \, dV_p \, dV_q. \tag{2}$$

(ii) Following a spectral approach, we can set

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = \sum_{k \ge 1} \lambda_k^{s/2} \langle u, \phi_k \rangle_{L^2(M)}^2$$
 (3)

where $\{\phi_k\}_k$ is an orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions of the Laplace-Beltrami operator $(-\Delta_g)$ and $\{\lambda_k\}_k$ are the corresponding eigenvalues. For s=2 this immediately recovers the usual $[u]_{H^1(M)}^2$ seminorm.

(iii) Considering a Caffarelli-Silvestre type extension (cf. [9, 3]), namely, a degenerate-harmonic extension problem in one extra dimension, we can set

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = \inf \left\{ \int_{M \times \mathbb{R}_+} z^{1-s} |\widetilde{\nabla} U(p,z)|^2 dV_p dz \text{ s.t. } U(x,0) = u(x) \right\}. \tag{4}$$

Here $\widetilde{\nabla}$ denotes the Riemannian gradient of the manifold $\widetilde{M}=M\times(0,\infty)$, with respect natural product metric $\widetilde{g}=g+dz\otimes dz$, and the infimum is taken over all U belonging to the weighted Hilbert space $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ (see Definition 2.23 for the precise definition of this space, and we refer to Section 2.3 in general for all the basic properties of this extension characterization).

We will prove that (i)-(iii) define the same norm (not merely equivalent norms) up to explicit multiplicative constants. We emphasize that this gives a canonical definition of the $H^{s/2}(M)$ seminorm on a closed manifold.

Definition (i) through the expression (2) will allow us to control precisely the behavior of the fractional Sobolev energy. See, for example, Lemmas 3.10 and 3.11, which show that the fractional Sobolev energy

¹As customary, by heat kernel here we mean the fundamental solution of the heat equation $\partial_t u = \Delta u$ on M, where Δ denotes the Laplace-Beltrami operator on M.

is smooth with quantitative bounds under inner variations. For that, we will give precise quantitative estimates for the kernel $K_s(p,q)$ (defined in (1)) and its derivatives, depending only on local quantities. In particular, we will show that it is comparable to $\frac{1}{d(p,q)^{n+s}}$ if p and q are contained in a Riemannian ball with controlled geometry. We recall that the two kernels coincide in the case $M = \mathbb{R}^n$ (up to a constant factor).

The estimates for K_s will follow from corresponding estimates for the heat kernel H_M . Albeit of somewhat "standard flavor", they are hard to find in the literature with this level of precision, and we give an almost completely self-contained account that we believe to be of independent interest.

The extension definition (iii) will be used to give a monotonicity formula for stationary points u of semilinear elliptic functionals, that is, of functionals of the form

$$\mathcal{E}(v) = [v]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 + \int_M F(v) \, dV,$$

under the assumption that $F \ge 0$. More precisely, u need only be stationary for $\mathcal{E}(v)$ under inner variations; in particular, setting $F \equiv 0$ will give a monotonicity formula for nonlocal s-minimal surfaces, which we will define in a moment. Up to now, the result was known on \mathbb{R}^n by [8], [7] and [20].

Definition 1.1. Given $s \in (0,1)$ and a (measurable) set $E \subset M$, we define the *s-perimeter of E* as

$$\operatorname{Per}_{s}(E) := \left[\chi_{E}\right]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^{2} = \frac{1}{4} \left[\chi_{E} - \chi_{E^{c}}\right]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^{2}, \tag{5}$$

where χ_E is the characteristic function of E and $E^c := M \setminus E$.

From the estimates that we will prove for K_s , one can see that for every set $E \subset M$ with smooth boundary, one has that $(1-s)\operatorname{Per}_s(E) \to \operatorname{Per}(E)$ as $s \uparrow 1$ (up to a multiplicative dimensional constant, see [5] and also [15, 11, 1] for further details on the computation in the case of \mathbb{R}^n).

Definition 1.2. The boundary ∂E of a set $E \subset M$ is said to be an *s-minimal surface* if $\operatorname{Per}_s(E) < \infty$ and, for every smooth vector field X on M, we have

$$\left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \operatorname{Per}_s(\psi_X^t(E)) = 0,$$

where $\psi_X^t : M \times \mathbb{R} \to M$ denotes the flow of X at time t.

Remark 1.3. As we prove² in Lemma 3.10 and Lemma 3.11, if $\operatorname{Per}_s(E,\Omega) < \infty$ and $X \in \mathfrak{X}_c(\mathcal{U})$ is such that $\operatorname{spt}(X) \subset \overline{\Omega}$ then the map $t \mapsto \operatorname{Per}_s(\psi_X^t(E),\Omega)$ is well-defined for all t and of class C^{∞} . Thus, the previous definitions are meaningful.

In other words, ∂E is an *s*-minimal surface if $u = \chi_E - \chi_{E^c}$ is stationary under inner variations for $\mathcal{E}(v) = [v]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2$. The general monotonicity formula claimed before is the following (see Section 3.3 for the precise definitions and notation):

Theorem 1.4 (Monotonicity formula). *Let* (M^n, g) *be an n-dimensional, closed Riemannian manifold. Let* $s \in (0,2)$ *and*

$$\mathcal{E}(v) = [v]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 + \int_M F(v) \, dV,$$

where F is any smooth nonnegative function. Let $u: M \to \mathbb{R}$ be stationary for \mathcal{E} under inner variations, meaning that $\mathcal{E}(u) < \infty$ and for any smooth vector field X on M there holds $\frac{d}{dt}|_{t=0} \mathcal{E}(u \circ \psi_X^t) = 0$, where ψ_X^t is the flow of X at time t. For $(p_\circ, 0) \in \widetilde{M}$ define

$$\Phi(R) := \frac{1}{R^{n-s}} \left(\beta_s \int_{\widetilde{B}_R^+(p_o,0)} z^{1-s} |\nabla U(p,z)|^2 dV_p dz + \int_{B_R(p_o)} F(u) dV \right),$$

²Notice that for functions taking values in $\{\pm 1\}$ the potential part of the energy vanishes and the Sobolev part of the energy gives the fractional perimeter.

where U is the unique solution (see Theorem 2.24) in $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ to

$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}U) = 0 & \text{in } \widetilde{M}\,, \\ U(p,0) = u(p) & \text{for } p \in \partial \widetilde{M} = M\,. \end{cases}$$

Then, there exists a constant with the following property: whenever $R_{\circ} \leq \inf_{M}(p_{\circ})/4$ and K is an upper bound for all the sectional curvatures of M in $B_{R_{\circ}}(p_{\circ})$, then

$$R \mapsto \Phi(R)e^{C\sqrt{K}R}$$
 is nondecreasing for $R < R_{\circ}$,

and the inequality

$$\Phi'(R) \ge -C\sqrt{K}\Phi(R) + \frac{s}{R^{n-s+1}} \int_{B_R(p_\circ)} F(u) dV + \frac{2\beta_s}{R^{n-s}} \int_{\partial^+ \widetilde{B}_R^+(p_\circ,0)} z^{1-s} \langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle^2 d\widetilde{\sigma}$$

holds for all $R < R_0$, with $d(\cdot) = d_{\widetilde{g}}((p_\circ, 0), \cdot)$ the distance function on \widetilde{M} from the point $(p_\circ, 0)$.

Moreover, in the particular case where $M = \mathbb{R}^n$, $F \equiv 0$, $s \in (0,1)$, and $u = \chi_E - \chi_{E^c}$ where E is an s-minimal surface, there holds

$$\Phi'(R) = \frac{2\beta_s}{R^{n-s}} \int_{\partial^+ \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_R^+(p_\circ,0)} z^{1-s} \langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle^2 \, dx dz \ge 0 \,,$$

which shows that Φ is nondecreasing and that it is constant if and only if E is a cone.

2 The fractional Laplacian on a closed manifold (M,g)

Throughout the paper (unless otherwise stated) (M, g) will be a closed (i.e. compact and without boundary) Riemannian manifold of dimension n.

Taking inspiration from the case of \mathbb{R}^n in [8], in this section we give several equivalent definitions for the fractional Laplacian $(-\Delta)^{s/2}$ on a closed Riemannian manifold, with $s \in (0,2)$.

2.1 Spectral and singular integral definitions

The fractional Laplacian $(-\Delta)^{s/2}$ can be define as the s/2-th power (in the sense of spectral theory) of the usual Laplace-Beltrami operator on a Riemannian manifold, through Bochner's subordination.

Given $\lambda > 0$ and $s \in (0,2)$, the following numerical formula holds:

$$\lambda^{s/2} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_0^\infty (e^{-\lambda t} - 1) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}.$$
 (6)

Formally applying the above relation to the operator $L = (-\Delta)$ in place of λ , one obtains the following definition for the fractional Laplacian.

Definition 2.1 (Spectral definition). Let $s \in (0,2)$. The fractional Laplacian $(-\Delta)^{s/2}$ is the operator that acts on smooth functions u by

$$(-\Delta)^{s/2} u = \frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_0^\infty (e^{t\Delta} u - u) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}.$$
 (7)

Here, the expression $e^{t\Delta}u$ is to be understood as the solution of the heat equation on M at time t and with initial datum u.

From now on, to denote the solution of the heat equation with initial datum u, we will write $P_t u$ in place of $e^{t\Delta}u$.

Remark 2.2. On a closed Riemannian manifold a closely related definition of the fractional Laplacian is available: if $\{\phi_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is an $L^2(M)$ orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions for $(-\Delta)$ with eigenvalues

$$0 < \lambda_1 < \lambda_2 \le \ldots \le \lambda_k \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} +\infty$$

and u is a smooth function then

$$(-\Delta)^{s/2}u = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k^{s/2} \langle u, \phi_k \rangle_{L^2(M)} \phi_k.$$

Since the solution to the heat equation on M with initial datum an eigenfunction ϕ_k is given by $e^{t\Delta}\phi_k = e^{-\lambda_k t}\phi_k$, the above definition is easily shown to be identical to (7) by first observing that they coincide for eigenfunctions (thanks to (6)), and then extending the result by approximation. In [21] (see also [10]) all the details of this equivalence are carried out in the case of certain positive second order operators with discrete spectrum on a domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. In our case of $(-\Delta)$ on a closed Riemannian manifold, the proof is then completely analogous. Nevertheless, this characterization will not be used in what follows and is given only as complementary information.

The second definition for the fractional Laplacian, closely related to the spectral one, expresses it as a singular integral. It will be our working definition in a substantial portion of the article.

Definition 2.3 (**Singular integral definition**). The fractional Laplacian $(-\Delta)^{s/2}$ of order (of differentiation) $s \in (0,2)$ is the operator that acts on a regular function u by

$$(-\Delta)^{s/2}u(p) = p.v. \int_{M} (u(p) - u(q))K_{s}(p,q) dV_{q}$$

$$:= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{M} (u(p) - u(q))K_{s}^{\varepsilon}(p,q) dV_{q}.$$
(8)

Here $K_s(p,q): M \times M \to \mathbb{R}$ denotes the singular kernel given by

$$K_s(p,q) = \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_0^\infty H_M(p,q,t) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}$$
 (9)

where $H_M: M \times M \times (0,\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ denotes the usual heat kernel on M, and $K_s^{\varepsilon}(p,q)$ is the natural regularization

$$K_s^{\varepsilon}(p,q) = \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_0^\infty H_M(p,q,t) e^{-\varepsilon^2/4t} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}.$$
 (10)

Remark 2.4. If the compact manifold M is replaced by the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n then

$$K_s(x,y) = \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_0^\infty H_{\mathbb{R}^n}(x,y,t) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} = \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{(4\pi t)^{\frac{n}{2}}} e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4t}} \right) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} = \frac{\alpha_{n,s}}{|x-y|^{n+s}},$$

where

$$\alpha_{n,s} = \frac{2^{s} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+s}{2}\right)}{\pi^{n/2} |\Gamma(-s/2)|} = \frac{s2^{s-1} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+s}{2}\right)}{\pi^{n/2} \Gamma(1-s/2)}.$$
(11)

Hence we recover the usual form of the fractional Laplacian on \mathbb{R}^n .

Remark 2.5. Let us briefly comment on our choice of the "natural" regularization $K_s^{\varepsilon}(p,q)$ that we have used to define the principal value (p.v.) in (8). First, we will see in the proof of (42) that this approximation naturally appears in the computation. This is because $K_s^{\varepsilon}(p,q)$ is directly related to the fractional Poisson kernel $\mathbb{P}_{\widetilde{M}}(p,q,z)$ of $\widetilde{M}:=M\times(0,+\infty)$ by the formula

$$K_s^{\varepsilon}(p,q) = \mathbb{P}_{\widetilde{M}}(p,q,\varepsilon)\varepsilon^{-s}$$
,

³Note that $\frac{1}{|\Gamma(-s/2)|} = \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)}$.

and the fractional Poisson kernel is the fundamental solution of the Caffarelli-Silvestre extension problem. Moreover, if the compact manifold M is replaced by the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n then

$$K_s^{\varepsilon}(p,q) = \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_0^\infty H_{\mathbb{R}^n}(x,y,t) e^{-\varepsilon^2/4t} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} = \frac{\alpha_{n,s}}{(|x-y|^2 + \varepsilon^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}},$$

which is arguably a very natural regularization of $\frac{\alpha_{n,s}}{|x-y|^{n+s}}$, and is easily seen to give the same principal value that one would get integrating on $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{\varepsilon}(y)$ and then taking $\varepsilon \to 0^+$. This is also true on a Riemannian manifold, and actually, even more is true. Many different de-singularizations of the (singular) kernel $K_s(p,q)$ are possible, and under mild hypothesis, they give the same notion of principal value (p.v.), meaning that the limit exists iff all the others limit do, and if the limit exists, they give the same value in $\mathbb{R} \cup \{\pm \infty\}$. This includes removing a geodesic ball around the singularity and also other reasonable de-singularizations such as

$$K_{s}^{\varepsilon}(p,q) = \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} H_{M}(p,q,t) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}.$$

Proposition 2.6. For every $s \in (0,2)$ definitions (7) and (8) coincide, meaning that:

- (i) For $u \in C^{\infty}(M)$ they coincide pointwise everywhere.
- (ii) For $u \in L^2(M)$ they coincide as distributions (i.e. in duality with $C^{\infty}(M)$).

Proof. Let $u \in C^{\infty}(M)$. Expressing the solution $P_t u$ to the heat equation in terms of the initial datum as

$$P_t u(p) = \int_M u(q) H_M(p,q,t) \, dV_q \,,$$

and using that $\int_M H_M(p,q,t) dV_q = 1$ gives, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, that

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_0^\infty (P_t u - u) \frac{e^{-\varepsilon^2/4t} dt}{t^{1+s/2}} = \int_M (u - u(q)) K_s^{\varepsilon}(p, q) \, dV_q \,. \tag{12}$$

Since u is smooth, letting $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ gives convergence of both integrals pointwise everywhere and

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_0^\infty (P_t u - u) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} = p.v. \int_M (u - u(q)) K_s(p,q) dV_q,$$

and this proves (i).

Now to show (ii) take $u \in L^2(M)$ and $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(M)$. Mupltiply (13) by φ and integrate over M to get

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_{M} \int_{0}^{\infty} (P_{t}u - u) \varphi \frac{e^{-\varepsilon^{2}/4t}}{t^{1+s/2}} dt dV = \iint_{M \times M} (u(p) - u(q)) \varphi(p) K_{s}^{\varepsilon}(p, q) dV_{q} dV_{p}. \tag{13}$$

Note that since $\varepsilon > 0$ is fixed and positive, neither of the two integrals above is singular, and they are both absolutely convergent. Hence, we can exchange the other of integration in both integrals. For the left-hand-side using that P_t is self adjoint in $L^2(M)$ we get

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_{M} \int_{0}^{\infty} (P_{t}u - u) \varphi \frac{e^{-\varepsilon^{2}/4t}}{t^{1+s/2}} \, dt dV &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-\varepsilon^{2}/4t}}{t^{1+s/2}} \langle P_{t}u - u, \varphi \rangle_{L^{2}} \, dt \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-\varepsilon^{2}/4t}}{t^{1+s/2}} \langle P_{t}\varphi - \varphi, u \rangle_{L^{2}} \, dt \\ &= \int_{M} \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} (P_{t}\varphi - \varphi) \frac{e^{-\varepsilon^{2}/4t}}{t^{1+s/2}} \, dt \right) u \, dV \, . \end{split}$$

Regarding the right-hand side, since $K_s^{\varepsilon}(p,q)$ is symmetric

$$\iint_{M\times M} (u(p)-u(q))\varphi(p)K_s^{\varepsilon}(p,q)\,dV_qdV_p = \iint_{M\times M} (\varphi(p)-\varphi(q))u(p)K_s^{\varepsilon}(p,q)\,dV_qdV_p\,.$$

Thus

$$\int_{M} \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} (P_{t} \varphi - \varphi) \frac{e^{-\varepsilon^{2}/4t}}{t^{1+s/2}} dt \right) u dV = \int_{M} \left(\int_{M} (\varphi(p) - \varphi(q)) K_{s}^{\varepsilon}(p,q) dV_{q} \right) u(p) dV_{p},$$

and letting $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ and using (i) proves (ii).

Remark 2.7. On a noncompact Riemannian manifold, the mass preservation property $\int_M H_M(p,q,t) dq = 1$ may fail, leading to undesired phenomena such as the fractional Laplacian of a constant being different from zero. It is thus natural in that case to assume that M is stochastically complete, i.e. that $\int_M H_M(p,q,t) dq = 1$ for every t > 0.

2.2 Properties of the kernel

This section gives important estimates on the singular kernel $K_s(p,q)$. In order to precisely quantify the dependence of the constants in the estimates on the geometry of the ambient manifold, the notion of "local flatness assumption" will be very useful. Let us introduce it below.

Here, as in the rest of the paper, $\mathcal{B}_R(0)$ denotes the Euclidean ball of radius R centered at 0 of \mathbb{R}^n , and $B_R(p)$ denotes the metric ball on M of radius R and center p.

Definition 2.8 (Local flatness assumption). Let (M^n, g) be an n-dimensional Riemannian manifold and $p \in M$. For R > 0, we say that (M, g) satisfies the ℓ -th order flatness assumption at scale R around the point p, with parametrization φ , abbreviated as $FA_{\ell}(M, g, R, p, \varphi)$, whenever there exists an open neighborhood V of p and a diffeomorphism

$$\varphi:\mathcal{B}_R(0) o V$$
, with $\varphi(0)=p$,

such that, letting $g_{ij} = g\left(\varphi_*\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}\right), \varphi_*\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}\right)\right)$ be the representation of the metric g in the coordinates φ^{-1} , we have

$$(1 - \frac{1}{100})|v|^2 \le g_{ij}(x)v^iv^j \le (1 + \frac{1}{100})|v|^2 \quad \forall v \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and } \forall x \in \mathcal{B}_R(0),$$
 (14)

and

$$R^{|\alpha|} \left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} g_{ij}(x)}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \right| \le \frac{1}{100} \quad \forall \alpha \text{ multi-index with } 1 \le |\alpha| \le \ell, \text{ and } \forall x \in \mathcal{B}_R(0).$$
 (15)

Remark 2.9. Notice that for any smooth closed Riemannian manifold (M, g), given $\ell \geq 0$, there exists $R_0 > 0$ for which $FA_\ell(M, g, R_0, p, \varphi_p)$ is satisfied for all $p \in M$, where φ_p can be chosen to be the restriction of the exponential map⁴(of M) at p to the (normal) ball $\mathcal{B}_{R_0}(0) \subset T_pM \cong \mathbb{R}^n$.

Remark 2.10. The notion above of local flatness is used in our results to stress the fact that, once the local geometry of the manifold is controlled in the sense of Definition 2.8, then our estimates are independent of *M*. Interestingly, this makes our estimates in the present article and in [13] of local nature even though the equation we deal with is nonlocal.

Remark 2.11. The following useful scaling properties hold.

(a) Given M=(M,g) and r>0, we can consider the "rescaled manifold" $\widehat{M}=(M,r^2g)$. When performing this rescaling, the new heat kernel $H_{\widehat{M}}$ satisfies

$$H_{\widehat{M}}(p,q,t)=r^{-n}H_{M}(p,q,t/r^2)\,.$$

As a consequence, the "rescaled kernel" \hat{K}_s defining the s-perimeter on \hat{M} satisfies

$$\widehat{K}_s(p,q)=r^{-(n+s)}K_s(p,q).$$

⁴That is $\varphi_p = (\exp_p \circ i)|_{\mathcal{B}_{R_0}(0)}$ for any isometric identification of $i : \mathbb{R}^n \to TM_p$

- (b) Concerning the flatness assumption, it is easy to show that $FA_{\ell}(M,g,R,p,\varphi) \Rightarrow FA_{\ell}(M,g,R',p,\varphi)$ for all R' < R and $FA_{\ell}(M,g,R,p,\varphi) \Leftrightarrow FA_{\ell}(M,r^2g,R/r,p,\varphi(r \cdot))$.
- (c) Similarly, if $\operatorname{FA}_{\ell}(M,g,R,p,\varphi)$ holds, and $q \in \varphi(\mathcal{B}_R(0))$ is such that $\mathcal{B}_{\varrho}(\varphi^{-1}(q)) \subset \mathcal{B}_R(0)$, then $\operatorname{FA}_{\ell}(M,r^2g,\varrho/r,q,\varphi_{\varphi^{-1}(q),r})$ holds, where $\varphi_{x,\rho} := \varphi(x+\rho \cdot)$.

In all the sections, we will use the (standard) multi-index notation for derivatives. A multi-index $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, ..., \alpha_n)$ will be an n-tuple of nonnegative integers (in other words $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$). We define

$$|\alpha| := \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n$$
.

For a function $f: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is of class C^{ℓ} we shall use the notation

$$\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}f:=\frac{\partial^{\alpha_1+\alpha_2+\cdots\alpha_n}f}{(\partial x^1)^{\alpha_1}(\partial x^2)^{\alpha_2}\cdots(\partial x^n)^{\alpha_n}}.$$

For $\alpha = 0$, we put $\frac{\partial^{|0|}}{\partial x^0} f := f$.

The next main theorem gives the precise behavior of the kernel around a point satisfying flatness assumptions, including an explicit approximation in coordinates.

Theorem 2.12. Let (M,g) be a Riemannian n-manifold, not necessarily closed, $s \in (0,2)$ and let $p \in M$. Assume $FA_{\ell}(M,g,R,p,\varphi)$ holds and denote $K(x,y) := K_s(\varphi(x),\varphi(y))$.

Given $x \in \mathcal{B}_R(0)$, let A(x) denote the positive symmetric square root of the matrix $(g_{ij}(x))$ — g_{ij} being the metric in coordinates φ^{-1} — and, for $x, z \in \mathcal{B}_{R/2}(0)$, define

$$k(x,z):=K(x,x+z)$$
 and $\widehat{k}(x,z):=k(x,z)-lpha_{n,s}rac{\det(A(x))}{|A(x)z|^{n+s}}.$

Then

$$\left|\widehat{k}(x,z)\right| \le R^{-1} \frac{C(n,s)}{|z|^{n+s-1}} \quad \text{for all } x,z \in \mathcal{B}_{R/4}(0), \tag{16}$$

and, for every multi-indices α , β with $|\alpha| + |\beta| \le \ell$, we have

$$\left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial^{|\beta|}}{\partial z^{\beta}} k(x, z) \right| \le \frac{C(n, s, \ell)}{|z|^{n+s+|\beta|}} \quad \text{for all } x, z \in \mathcal{B}_{R/4}(0).$$
 (17)

The constants C(n,s) and C(n,s,l) stay bounded for s away from 0 and 2.

Moreover, for all $x \in \mathcal{B}_{R/4}(0)$ and for all $q \in M \setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_R(0))$ we have

$$\left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} K_{s}(\varphi(x), q) \right| \leq \frac{C(n, \ell)}{R^{n+s}}, \tag{18}$$

and

$$\int_{M\setminus\varphi(\mathcal{B}_R(0))} \left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} K_s(\varphi(x), q) \right| dV_q \le \frac{C(n, \ell)}{R^s},\tag{19}$$

for every multi-index α with $|\alpha| \leq \ell$.

2.2.1 Heat kernel estimates

To prove Theorem 2.12 we will need several preliminary lemmas studying the properties of the heat kernel of *M*.

The first result compares locally the heat kernel $H_M(p,q,t)$ or the singular kernel $K_s(p,q)$ on \mathbb{R}^n endowed with a metric g with the standard ones on \mathbb{R}^n .

Lemma 2.13. Let g be a smooth metric on \mathbb{R}^n such that $\frac{|v|^2}{4} \leq g_{ij}(x)v^iv^j \leq 4|v|^2$ and $|Dg_{ij}(x)| \leq 1$ for all $x, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Denote $M := (\mathbb{R}^n, g)$ and let K_s be defined by (9). Then, there exists positive constants $c_i = c_i(n)$ for $1 \leq i \leq 6$ such that

$$\frac{c_1}{t^{n/2}}e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{c_2t}} \leq H_M(x,y,t) \leq \frac{c_3}{t^{n/2}}e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{c_4t}},$$

and

$$c_5 \frac{\alpha_{n,s}}{|x-y|^{n+s}} \le K_s(x,y) \le c_6 \frac{\alpha_{n,s}}{|x-y|^{n+s}}$$

for all $(x, y, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$.

Proof. The two-sided estimates for the heat kernel H_M follow directly from the classical parabolic estimates of Aronson [2]. The second inequality follows by integrating the first one, from the definition (9) of $K_s(x,y)$.

The next lemma concerns the concentration of mass of the heat kernel.

Lemma 2.14. Let (M,g) be a Riemannian n-manifold, $p \in M$, and assume $FA_0(M,g,1,p,\varphi)$ holds. Then

$$1 - C \exp(-c/t) \le \int_{\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0))} H_M(p,q,t) dV_q \le 1$$
, for all $t > 0$,

with C, c > 0 depending only on n.

Proof. Put $H(x,y,t):=H_M(\varphi(x),\varphi(y),t)$. Let $g_{ij}\in C^0(\mathcal{B}_1(0))$ be the metric coefficients in the chart φ^{-1} , choose $\xi\in C^0_c(\mathcal{B}_1(0))$ such that $\chi_{\mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0)}\leq \xi\leq \chi_{\mathcal{B}_1(0)}$ and put $g'_{ij}:=g_{ij}\xi+\delta_{ij}(1-\xi)$. By assumption we have $|\overline{g}'_{ij}(x)v^iv^j-|v|^2|\leq \frac{1}{100}|v|^2$ for all $x,v\in\mathbb{R}^n$. Morevoer, $g'_{ij}\equiv g_{ij}$ inside $\mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0)$. Consider the complete Riemannian manifold $M':=(\mathbb{R}^n,g')$ and let H'(x,y,t) denote its associated heat kernel. Then, by Lemma 2.13 we have

$$\frac{c_1}{t^{n/2}}e^{-c_2|x-y|^2/t} \le H'(x,y,t) \le \frac{c_3}{t^{n/2}}e^{-c_4|x-y|^2/t}.$$
 (20)

Now, since H'(0,x,t) is the heat kernel of the stochastically complete manifold M' we have

$$\int_{M} H'(0, x, t) \sqrt{|g'|(x)} dx = 1 \quad \text{for all } t > 0.$$
 (21)

On the other hand, for every fixed $\tau > 0$ set $h(\tau) := \frac{c_3}{\tau^{n/2}} e^{-c_4(1/4)^2/\tau}$. Using (20) we have that $u(x,t) = (H'(0,x,t) - h(\tau))^+$, where $(\cdot)^+$ denotes the positive part, is a subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} u_t \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{|g'|}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} \left(\sqrt{|g'|} (g')^{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} u \right) & \text{in } \mathcal{B}_{1/4}(0) \times (0, \tau), \\ u = 0 & \text{in } \partial \mathcal{B}_{1/4}(0) \times (0, \tau). \end{cases}$$

Since $g' \equiv g$ in $\mathcal{B}_{1/4}(0)$, it easily follows (using that both H(0,x,t) and H'(0,x,t) have as initial condition a Dirac delta with respect to the same volume form $\sqrt{|g|}dx$) that $u \leq H(0,x,t)$ for all $t \in (0,\tau)$. This gives, for all $t \in (0,\tau)$

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}_{1/4}} (H'(0,x,t) - h(\tau))^+ \sqrt{|g|} dx = \int_{\mathcal{B}_{1/4}} u(x,t) \sqrt{|g|} dx \le \int_{\mathcal{B}_{1/4}} H(0,x,t) \sqrt{|g|} dx$$

On the other hand, using (21) and (20) we obtain that for all $t \in (0, \tau)$

$$1 - C \exp(-c/\tau) \le 1 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0)} \frac{c_3}{t^{n/2}} e^{-c_4|x|^2/t} \left(1 + \frac{1}{100}\right)^{n/2} dx \le 1 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0)} H'(0, x, t) \sqrt{|g'|} dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0)} H'(0, x, t) \sqrt{|g|} dx.$$

Finally, since also $h(\tau) \le C \exp(-c/\tau)$ (notice that we can "absorbe" $\tau^{-n/2}$ in $Ce^{-c/\tau}$ chosing c>0 slightly smaller and a larger C), we obtain the desired estimate

$$1 - C \exp(-c/\tau) \le \int_{\mathcal{B}_{1/4}(0)} H(0, x, t) \sqrt{|g|} dx \le \int_{\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0))} H(p, q, t) dV_q, \quad \forall t \in (0, \tau),$$

and for all $\tau > 0$. The bound by above by 1 of the same quantity follows immediately using that H is a heat kernel, i.e. nonnegative and with total mass bounded by 1.

Lemma 2.15. Under the same assumptions as in Theorem 2.12, for all $q \in M \setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_1(0))$ we have

$$\left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} H_{M}(\varphi(x), q, t) \right| \le C \exp(-c/t), \quad \text{for } (x, t) \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0) \times [0, \infty)$$
 (22)

and for every multi-index α with $|\alpha| \leq \ell$, with C, c > 0 depending only on n and ℓ .

Proof. Notice that $u(x,t) := H_M(\varphi(x),q,t)$ satisfies $u_t = Lu$, in $\mathcal{B}_1(0) \times [0,\infty)$ and $u \equiv 0$ at t = 0, where

$$Lu = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|g|}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} \left(\sqrt{|g|} g^{ij} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x^j} \right)$$
 (23)

is the Laplace-Beltrami operator with metric *g*.

Let us show that

$$|u| \le C \exp(-c/t) \quad \text{for } (x,t) \in \mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0) \times [0,\infty), \tag{24}$$

with C,c>0 dimensional constants. This follows from the following standard probabilistic consideration. Fix $x_{\circ} \in \varphi(\mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0))$. By continuity of sample paths, the probability that a Brownian motion started at $q \in M \setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_1(0))$ hits $\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{\delta}(x_{\circ}))$ ($0 < \delta \ll 1$) within time $\leq t$ is less that the supremum among $q' \in \varphi(\partial \mathcal{B}_{8/9})$ of the probability that a Brownian motion started at a point q' hits $\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{\delta}(x_{\circ}))$ within time $\leq t$. This gives

$$u(x_{\circ},t) \leq \sup_{q' \in \varphi(\partial \mathcal{B}_{8/9})} H_{M}(\varphi(x_{\circ}), q', t). \tag{25}$$

Let us now use (25), Lemma 2.14, and the parabolic Harnack inequality as follows to show (24).

For fixed $q' \in \varphi(\partial \mathcal{B}_{8/9})$ set $v(x,t) := H_M(\varphi(x),q',t)$ and consider the rescaled $\widetilde{v}(x,t) := v(x_\circ + rx,t_\circ + r^2t)$ for $r \in (0,1/10)$. Then $\widetilde{v} \geq 0$ satisfies a (uniformly) parabolic equation in $\mathcal{B}_1(0) \times (0,1)$ with smooth coefficients (that only improve as r gets smaller). Thus, by the Harnack inequality for every $x \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0)$ and $t \in (1/4,1/2)$ we have $\widetilde{v}(x,t) \leq C\inf_{\mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0)} \widetilde{v}(\cdot,1) \leq C\widetilde{v}(y,1)$ for all $y \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0)$. Integrating

$$\widetilde{v}(0,t) \leq C \int_{\mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0)} \widetilde{v}(y,1) dy = C \int_{\mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0)} v(x_{\circ} + ry, t_{\circ} + r^2) dy = Cr^{-n} \int_{\mathcal{B}_{r/2}(x_{\circ})} v(z, t_{\circ} + r^2) dz,$$

for some C = C(n) > 0. Thus, for all $t \in (t_{\circ} + r^2/4, t_{\circ} + r^2/2)$

$$v(x_{\circ},t) \leq Cr^{-n} \int_{\mathcal{B}_{r/2}(x_{\circ})} v(z,t_{\circ}+r^2) dz.$$

But $\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{r/2}(x_\circ)) \subset M \setminus B_{1/10}(q')$ for every $q' \in \varphi(\partial \mathcal{B}_{8/9}(0))$. Then by Lemma 2.14 we get

$$v(x_{\circ},t) \leq Cr^{-n} \int_{M \setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/10}(q'))} H_M(z,q',t_{\circ}+r^2) dz \leq Cr^{-n} \exp\left(-\frac{c}{t_{\circ}+r^2}\right),$$

where C, c > 0 depend only on n. Now, for small times $t_0 \le 1/100$ choosing $r^2 = t_0$ (together with the probabilistic argument above) gives the result, since one can absorb the term $r^{-n} = t_0^{-n/2}$ in the exponential up to slightly decreasing the value of c. For non-small times $t_0 > 1/100$, one can just take r = 1/10 and obtain upper bound by a constant as desired. This concludes the proof of (24).

Now, similarly to above, for all $r \in (0,1/4)$ and $(x_\circ,t_\circ) \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0) \times (0,\infty)$ the rescaled function $\overline{u}(x,t) = u(x_\circ + rx,t_\circ + r^2t)$ satisfies a (uniformly) parabolic equation with smooth coefficients (since the bounds on every C^k norm of the coefficients only improve as r gets smaller) and, from (24), we have $|\overline{u}| \leq C \exp(-c/t)$ in $\mathcal{B}_1 \times (0,1)$. Hence standard parabolic Schauder estimates give

$$\left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \, \overline{u} \right| \le C \exp(-c/t), \quad \text{for } (x,t) \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0) \times [1/2,1) \,,$$

for every multi-index α with $|\alpha| \le \ell$, with C > 0 depending only on n and ℓ and c > 0 as above.

After scaling back the estimate above we obtain, for all $r \in (0, 1/4]$

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}u(x_{\circ},t_{\circ}+t)\right| \leq Cr^{-|\alpha|}\exp(-c/r^2), \text{ for } (x_{\circ},t) \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0) \times [r^2/2,r^2).$$

Then, for "non-small" times $t_{\circ} \geq 1/16$ we notice that (22) follows taking r = 1/4. On the other hand, for small times $t_{\circ} \in (0,1/16)$ we obtain (22) taking $r^2 = t_{\circ}$, bounding $r^{-|\alpha|}$ by $t_{\circ}^{-\ell/2}$, and absorbing (chosing c > 0 smaller and C larger) this negative power of t_{\circ} in the exponential.

Lemma 2.16. Under the same assumptions as in Theorem 2.12, we have

$$\int_{M\setminus\varphi(\mathcal{B}_1(0))} \left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} H_M(\varphi(x), q, t) \right| dV_q \le C \exp(-c/t), \quad for \ (x, t) \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0) \times [0, \infty)$$
 (26)

and for every multi-index α with $|\alpha| \leq \ell$, with C, c > 0 depending only on n and ℓ .

Proof. It is similar to the proof of Lemma 2.15. Let $\sigma: M \setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_1(0)) \to \{+1, -1\}$ be any measurable function to be chosen. Consider

$$u(x,t) := \int_{M \setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_1(0))} H_M(\varphi(x),q,t) \sigma(q) dV_q,$$

By Lemma 2.14 — since $H_M \ge 0$ and $\int_M H_M(p,q,t) dV_q \le 1$ — we obtain

$$|u(x,t)| \le \int_{M \setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/4}(0))} H(\varphi(x),q,t) dV_q \le C \exp(-c/t), \qquad \forall (x,t) \in \mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0) \times [0,\infty). \tag{27}$$

Notice that in this estimate, C and c are positive dimensional constants (and in particular, they do not depend on the choice of σ). Also, by the superposition principle u satisfies $u_t = Lu$, in $\mathcal{B}_1(0) \times [0, \infty)$ and $u \equiv 0$ at t = 0, where L is as in (23).

Now proceeding exactly as in the proof of Lemma 2.15 we obtain that

$$\left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} u \right| \le C \exp(-c/t), \text{ for } (x,t) \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0) \times [0,\infty)$$

for $|\alpha| \le \ell$. Now, for any given α , x, and t, we can choose $\sigma : M \setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_1(0)) \to \{+1, -1\}$ so that

$$\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}u(x,t) = \int_{M\setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_1(0))} \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} H_M(\varphi(x),q,t) \sigma(q) dV_q = \int_{M\setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_1(0))} \left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} H_M(\varphi(x),q,t) \right| dV_q,$$

and we are done. \Box

Lemma 2.17. Let (M,g) and (M',g') be two Riemannian n-manifolds. Assume that both M and M' satisfy the flatness assumptions $FA_{\ell}(M,g,1,p,\phi)$ and $FA_{\ell}(M',g,1,p',\phi')$ respectively, and suppose that $g_{ij} \equiv g'_{ij}$ in $\mathcal{B}_1(0)$ in the coordinates induced by ϕ^{-1} and $(\phi')^{-1}$.

Then, letting $H(x,y,t) := H_M(\varphi(x),\varphi(y),t)$ and $H'(x,y,t) := H_{M'}(\varphi'(x),\varphi'(y),t)$, we have that the difference (H-H')(x,y,t) is of class C^ℓ in $\mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0) \times \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0) \times [0,\infty)$ and

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}\frac{\partial^{|\beta|}}{\partial y^{\beta}}(H-H')(x,y,t)\right| \leq C\exp(-c/t) \quad \text{for } (x,y,t) \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0) \times \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0) \times [0,\infty),$$

whenever α and β are multi-indexes satisfying $|\alpha| + |\beta| \le \ell$, with C, c > 0 depending only on n and ℓ .

Proof. Let us show that

$$|H - H'| \le C \exp(-c/t) \quad \text{for } (x, y, t) \in \mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0) \times \mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0) \times [0, \infty),$$
 (28)

with C, c > 0 dimensional constants.

Indeed, fix $x_0 \in \mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0)$ and let us show first that we have

$$\left| (H - H')(x_{\circ}, y, t) \right| \le C \exp(-c/t) \quad \text{for all } y \in \mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0) \setminus \mathcal{B}_{1/8}(x_{\circ}) \tag{29}$$

Indeed, the L^{∞} estimate of Lemma 2.15 —appropriately rescaled to have $\varphi(B_{1/8}(x_{\circ}))$ instead of $\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1}(0))$ —gives

$$H_M(\varphi(x_\circ), \varphi(y), t) \le C \exp(-c/t) \quad \text{for all } y \in \mathcal{B}_{3/4}(0) \setminus \mathcal{B}_{1/8}(x_\circ),$$
 (30)

and the same estimate with H_M replaced by $H_{M'}$. Hence (28) follows using $|H - H'| \le H + H'$.

Now observing that for all x_0 as above $u(y,t) := (H - H')(x_0, y, t)$ solves the heat equation $(\partial_t - L_y)u = 0$ with zero intial condition, (28) easily follows from the maximum principle.

Finally, the estimate for the higher derivatives follows from standard parabolic estimates, noticing that u(x, y, t) := (H - H')(x, y, t) solves

$$\partial_t u = \frac{1}{2}(L_{x,y}u)$$

where

$$L_{x,y}u = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|g(x)|}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} \left(\sqrt{|g(x)|} g^{ij}(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} u \right) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|g(y)|}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^i} \left(\sqrt{|g(y)|} g^{ij}(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial y^j} u \right).$$

is the sum of the Laplace-Beltrami operators with respect to the variables x and y (or, equivalently, the Laplace-Beltrami operator with respect to the product metric in $\mathcal{B}_1(0) \times \mathcal{B}_1(0)$).

Proposition 2.18. Assume that $M = (\mathbb{R}^n, g)$ with $g = (g_{ij}(x))$ satisfying

$$\frac{1}{2}id \leq (g_{ij}) \leq 2id$$
 and $\left|\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}g_{ij}\right| \leq 1$ for all $|\alpha| \leq \ell$, (31)

for some $\ell \geq 1$. Let H(x, y, t) be the heat kernel of M.

For $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ let A(x) denote the (unique) positive definite symmetric square root of the matrix $g(x) = (g_{ij}(x))$, and define h(z, x, t) by the identity

$$H(x,y,t) = \frac{1}{t^{n/2}} h\left(\frac{A(x)(y-x)}{\sqrt{t}}, x, t\right).$$

Define also:

$$h_{\circ}(x,z,t) = h_{\circ}(z) := \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{n/2}} e^{-|z|^2/4}$$
 and $\widehat{h} := h - h_{\circ}$.

Then, there are positive dimensional C and c such that

$$|\hat{h}| \le C \min(1, \sqrt{t})e^{-c|z|^2}$$
 for all $(x, z, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$.

Morever, we have

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}\frac{\partial^{|\beta|}}{\partial z^{\beta}}h\right| \leq Ce^{-c|z|^2} \quad \text{for all } (x,z,t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times (0,1) \text{ and } \alpha,\beta \text{ with } |\alpha| + |\beta| \leq \ell,$$

for positive constants C and c depending only on n and ℓ .

Proof of Proposition 2.18. Notice first that since H(x,y,t) = H(y,x,t) we have

$$H(x,y,t) = t^{-n/2}h\left(\frac{A(x)(y-x)}{\sqrt{t}}, x, t\right) = t^{-n/2}h\left(\frac{A(y)(x-y)}{\sqrt{t}}, y, t\right).$$

Let $L_x f := \frac{1}{\sqrt{|g|(x)}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} \left(\sqrt{|g|(x)} g(x)^{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} f \right)$ denote the Laplace-Beltrami operator (with respect to x). Direct computation shows:

$$LH = t^{-\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(\sqrt{t} \left(\frac{\partial_i \left(\sqrt{|g|} g^{ij} \right)}{\sqrt{|g|}} \right) (x) A_j^l(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial z^l} h(*) + g^{ij}(x) \left(A_i^k A_j^l \right) (y) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^k \partial z^l} h(*) \right),$$

$$\partial_t H = t^{-\frac{n}{2}-1} \left(-\frac{n}{2} h(*) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial z^l} h(*) \frac{(A(y)(x-y))^l}{\sqrt{t}} + t \partial_t h(*) \right),$$

where

(*) means evaluated at
$$\left(\frac{A(y)(x-y)}{\sqrt{t}}, y, t\right)$$
.

This leads to the equation for h = h(z, y, t), where we denote $\partial_i := \frac{\partial}{\partial z^i}$ and $\partial_{ij} := \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^i \partial z^j}$.

$$t\partial_t h = \overline{L}h := a^{ij}(z,y,t)\partial_{ij}h + \left(\sqrt{t}b^i(z,y,t) + \frac{z^i}{2}\right)\partial_i h + \frac{n}{2}h,$$

where

$$a^{ij}(z,y,t) := g^{kl}(y + \sqrt{t}z)(A_k^i A_l^j)(y)$$

and

$$b^i(z,y,t) := \left(\frac{\partial_k \left(\sqrt{|g|}g^{kl}\right)}{\sqrt{|g|}}\right) \left(y + \sqrt{t}z\right) A^i_l(y);$$

with initial condition:

$$h(z,y,0^+) = h_{\circ}(z) = (4\pi)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-|z|^2/4}$$

(Notice that we defined h so that its initial condition is independent of y.)

We emphasize that, by the assumption (31), this equation is uniformly elliptic, and the derivatives of a^{ij} , b^i up to order ℓ in the variables z and y are uniformly bounded for times $t \in (0, T_{\circ})$ by constants depending only on the constants n and T_{\circ} .

Let us now compute an equation for $\hat{h} = h - h_{\circ}$. Since

$$\delta^{ij}\partial_{ij}h_{\circ}+\frac{z^{i}}{2}\partial_{i}h+\frac{n}{2}h_{\circ}=0,$$

we obtain

$$t\partial_{t}\widehat{h} - \overline{L}\widehat{h} = \overline{L}h_{\circ} = (a^{ij} - \delta^{ij})\partial_{ij}h_{\circ} + \sqrt{t}b^{i}\partial_{i}h_{\circ}$$
$$= ((a^{ij} - \delta^{ij})(z_{i}z_{j} - \delta_{ij}) - \sqrt{t}b^{i}\frac{z^{j}}{2}\delta_{ij})h_{\circ}.$$

We emphasize that \hat{h} satisfies the initial condition

$$\widehat{h}(z,y,0)\equiv 0$$

Notice that (since by definition of A(y) is a square rooth of g(y)) we have, for all y

$$g^{kl}(y)(A_k^i A_l^j)(y) = \delta^{ij}$$

and hence, since g^{kl} is smooth,

$$|a^{ij}(z,y,t)-\delta^{ij}|\leq C\sqrt{t}$$

Hence, we have

$$|t\partial_t \widehat{h} - \overline{L}\widehat{h}| \le C(1+|z|^2)\sqrt{t}\,h_\circ \tag{32}$$

Let us now find some barrier allowing us to control \hat{h} . We can use as barrier

$$b(z,t) := \sqrt{t}e^{-(1/4+\kappa)|z|^2}$$

Direct computation shows that, for $\sqrt{t} < \theta \kappa$ (so that $a^{ij}\delta_{ij} \ge n - C\theta \kappa$ and $|\delta^{ij} - a^{ij}|z^k z^l \delta_{ik}\delta_{jl} \le C\theta \kappa |z|^2$)

$$\begin{split} t\partial_{t}b - \overline{L}b &= \left(\frac{1}{2} - 4\left(\frac{1}{4} - \kappa\right)^{2} (a^{ij})z^{k}z^{l}\delta_{ik}\delta_{jl} + 2\left(\frac{1}{4} - \kappa\right)a^{ij}\delta_{ij} + (\sqrt{t}b^{i} + \frac{z^{i}}{2})2\left(\frac{1}{4} - \kappa\right)z^{j}\delta_{ij} - \frac{n}{2}\right)b \\ &\geq \left(\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{1}{4} - \kappa\right)4\kappa|z|^{2} - C\theta\kappa|z|^{2} - C\kappa - C\theta\kappa|z|\right)b \\ &\geq \left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{\kappa}{2}|z|^{2}\right)b \geq 0, \end{split}$$

provided we chose $\theta > 0$ and $\kappa > 0$ sufficiently small.

Since clearly $b \ge \sqrt{t} h_0$ we obtain that Cb is a supersolution of (32) for $\sqrt{t} < \theta \kappa$. This shows that $|\hat{h}| \le Cb$ for all t small enough.

Notice that the estimate $|\hat{h}| \leq Cb$ (fixing $\kappa > 0$ and $\theta > 0$ small dimensional) shows, in particular, that

$$|\widehat{h}(z, y, t)| \le C\sqrt{t} \exp(-c|z|^2) \tag{33}$$

holds with c>0 dimensional for all "small" times $t\in(0,\theta^2\kappa^2)$. On the other hand, for "non-small" times $t\geq\theta^2\kappa^2$, the standard heat kernel estimate (20) for H (which holds with c_i dimensional) immediately yields (33) with \sqrt{t} replaced by 1.

In order to bound the derivatives of h with respect to z we notice we notice that, in logarithmic time $\tau = \log t$, the function $h(z,y,e^{\tau})$ satisfies, for y fixed, a standard parabolic equation with smooth coefficients in the domain $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty,0)$. Then, thanks to (33), applying standard parabolic estimates in parabolic cylinders $\{|x-x_{\circ}|<2,|\tau-\tau_{\circ}|<2\}$ we easily obtain the claimed bounds for all partial derivatives of h with respect to z.

In order to show the regularity in y, one can then differentiate the equation with respect to y as many times as needed (the coefficients depend in a very smooth way also in y) and notice that the initial condition will be zero (since h_{\circ} is independent of y). By standard parabolic regularity arguments (e.g., using a Duhamel-type formula to represent the solutions), we obtain the estimates.

2.2.2 Estimates for the singular kernel $K_s(p,q)$

As a first consequence of Lemma 2.17 we have that the following "local version" of Lemma 2.13 above also holds.

Lemma 2.19. Let $s_0 \in (0,2)$ and $s \in (s_0,2)$. Let (M,g) be a Riemannian n-manifold and $p \in M$. Assume that $FA_1(M,g,p,1,\phi)$ holds. Then

$$c_7 \frac{\alpha_{n,s}}{|x-y|^{n+s}} \leq K_s(\varphi(x), \varphi(y)) \leq c_8 \frac{\alpha_{n,s}}{|x-y|^{n+s}},$$

for all $x, y \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0)$, where $c_7, c_8 > 0$ depends on n and s_0 .

Proof. Take $\eta \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}_1(0))$ with $\chi_{\mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0)} \leq \eta \leq \chi_{\mathcal{B}_1(0)}$ and let $g'_{ij} := g_{ij}\eta + (1-\eta)\delta_{ij}$. This is a metric on \mathbb{R}^n with $g'_{ij} = g_{ij}$ in $\mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0)$. Denote by K_s , K'_s and H, H' the singular kernels and heat kernels of (M,g) and (\mathbb{R}^n,g') respectively. Then, by Lemma 2.17 applied to the manifolds (M,g) and (\mathbb{R}^n,g') we have, for $x,y \in \mathcal{B}_{1/4}(0)$:

$$|K_{s}(\varphi(x),\varphi(y)) - K'_{s}(x,y)| \leq \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} |H(\varphi(x),\varphi(y),t) - H'(x,y,t)| \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}$$
$$\leq \frac{Cs}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-c/t} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} \leq C(2-s),$$

for some dimensional C = C(n). Then, the result follows directly by Lemma 2.13 (and the explicit formula (11) for $\alpha_{n,s}$) for $x,y \in \mathcal{B}_{1/4}(0)$, and the conclusion also holds for $x,y \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}(0)$ by a standard covering argument.

Now, we have all the ingredients to give the proof of Theorem 2.12.

Proof of Theorem 2.12. Note that the statement is scaling invariant. Hence, with no loss of generality, we can (and do) assume that R = 1. Moreover, it suffices to consider the case $M = (\mathbb{R}^n, g)$, p = 0, $\varphi = \mathrm{id}$, and g_{ij} satisfying the assumptions of Proposition 2.18:

Indeed, similarly to the proof of Corollary 2.19, in the general case we can fix a radially nonincreasing cutoff function $\eta \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}_1)$ such that $\eta \equiv 1$ in $\mathcal{B}_{7/8}$ and consider the "extended" metric $g'_{ij} := g_{ij}\eta + \delta_{ij}(1-\eta)$. Observe that (M,g) and (\mathbb{R}^n,g') the assumptions of Lemma 2.17 with $M' = \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\varphi' = \mathrm{id}$. Let H(x,y,t) and H'(x,y,t) be defined as in Lemma 2.17.

Recall that, by definition, for all $x, y \in \mathcal{B}_1(0)$

$$K(x,y) = K_s(\varphi(x), \varphi(y)) = c_s \int_0^\infty H_M(\varphi(x), \varphi(y), t) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} = c_s \int_0^\infty H(x, y, t) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}},$$
 (34)

where $c_s = \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)}$. Let likewise

$$K'(x,y) = c_s \int_0^\infty H'(x,y,t) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}$$

Now, thanks to Lemma 2.17 we obtain, for all $x, y \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}$:

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}\frac{\partial^{|\beta|}}{\partial y^{\beta}}(K-K')(x,y,t)\right| \leq c_{s} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left|\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}\frac{\partial^{|\beta|}}{\partial y^{\beta}}(H-H')(x,y,t)\right| \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} \leq Cs \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-c/t} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} \leq C.$$

So, as claimed, we are left to prove the estimate for the $M = (\mathbb{R}^n, g)$, p = 0, $\varphi = \mathrm{id}$, and g_{ij} satisfying the assumptions of Proposition 2.18.

Recalling (34), notice that

$$k(x,z) = K(x,x+z) = c_s \int_0^\infty H(x,x+z,t) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} = c_s \int_0^\infty h\left(\frac{A(x)z}{\sqrt{t}},x,t\right) \frac{dt}{t^{n/2+1+s/2}}.$$
 (35)

Also, recalling that $h_{\circ}(z) := (4\pi)^{-n/2} e^{-|z|^2/4}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \widehat{k}(x,z) &= k(x,z) - \alpha_{n,s} \frac{\det(A(x))}{|A(x)z|^{n+s}} = c_s \int_0^\infty \left(h\left(\frac{A(x)z}{\sqrt{t}}, x, t\right) - h_\circ\left(\frac{A(x)z}{\sqrt{t}}\right) \right) \frac{dt}{t^{n/2+1+s/2}} \\ &= c_s \int_0^\infty \widehat{h}\left(\frac{A(x)z}{\sqrt{t}}, x, t\right) \frac{dt}{t^{n/2+1+s/2}}, \end{split}$$

Therefore using the heat kernel estimates from Proposition 2.18 (and noticing $|A(x)z| \ge \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|z|$ for all x, z by assumption) we obtain

$$|\widehat{k}(x,z)| \le c_s \int_0 \left| \widehat{h}\left(\frac{A(x)z}{\sqrt{t}}, x, t\right) \right| \frac{dt}{t^{n/2+1+s/2}} \le Cs \int_0^\infty \sqrt{t} \exp(-c|z|/\sqrt{t}) \frac{dt}{t^{n/2+1+s/2}} = C|z|^{1-n-s}.$$

This proves (16). Similarly, the estimates (17) follow differentiating (35) and using the corresponding estimates for derivatives of the heat kernel from 2.18.

Finally, (18) and (19) follow analogously integrating the heat kernel estimates in Lemmas 2.15 and 2.16, respectively. \Box

The next property concerns the behavior of the kernel when the two points p and q are separated from each other.

Proposition 2.20. Let (M,g) be a Riemannian n-manifold and $s \in (0,2)$. Assume that for some $p,q \in M$ both $\operatorname{FA}_{\ell}(M,g,1,p,\varphi_p)$ and $\operatorname{FA}_{\ell}(M,g,1,q,\varphi_q)$ hold, and suppose that $\varphi_p(\mathcal{B}_1(0)) \cap \varphi_q(\mathcal{B}_1(0)) = \emptyset$. Put $K_{pq}(x,y) :=$ $K_s(\varphi_p(x), \varphi_q(y))$. Then

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}\frac{\partial^{|\beta|}}{\partial y^{\beta}}K_{pq}(x,y)\right| \leq C(n,\ell) \quad \textit{for all } |x| < \tfrac{1}{2} \textit{ and } |y| < \tfrac{1}{2},$$

whenever $|\alpha| + |\beta| \le \ell$.

Proof. Let $H_*(x,y,t) := H_M(\varphi_p(x),\varphi_q(y),t)$. It follows from Lemma 2.15 that

$$\left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} H_*(x, y, t) \right| \le C \exp(-c/t)$$

for all $|x| < \frac{3}{4}$ and $|y| < \frac{3}{4}$, where C and c depend only on n, and $|\alpha|$. We now use that (by the symmetry of the heat kernel in p and q), for each $x \in \mathcal{B}_{1/2}$ fixed, the function $u(y,t):=\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}H_*(x,y,t)$ is solution of the heat equation $u_t=Lu$, in the ball |y|<1, where L denotes the Laplace-Beltrami (with respect to y, in local coordinates). Since $|u|\leq C\exp(-c/t)$ in $\mathcal{B}_{3/4}\times(0,\infty)$, reasoning exactly as in the proof of Lemma 2.15 (only that now the spatial variables are y instead of x) we obtain

$$\left| \frac{\partial^{|\beta|}}{\partial y^{\beta}} u(y,t) \right| \le C \exp(-c/t),$$

for some new positive constants *C* and *c* depending only on *n*, and $|\beta|$. This shows:

$$\left| \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial^{|\beta|}}{\partial y^{\beta}} H_*(x, y, t) \right| \le C \exp(-c/t)$$

Then the proposition follows immediately after noticing that, by definition,

$$K_{pq}(x,y) = \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_0^\infty H_*(x,y,t) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}},$$

and hence

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}\frac{\partial^{|\beta|}}{\partial y^{\beta}}K_{pq}(x,y)\right| = \left|\frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)}\int_{0}^{\infty}\frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}\frac{\partial^{|\beta|}}{\partial y^{\beta}}H_{*}(x,y,t)\frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}\right| \leq Cs\int_{0}^{\infty}\exp(-c/t)\frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} \leq C,$$

for some constant C > 0 that depends only on n and ℓ , and this concludes the proof.

Extension definition

Definition 2.21. We define the weighted Sobolev space

$$\widetilde{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty)) = H^1(\mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty), z^{1-s} dx dz)$$

as the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times [0,\infty))$ with the norm

$$||U||_{\widetilde{H}^{1}}^{2} := ||U||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n} \times (0, \infty) z^{1-s} dx dz)}^{2} + ||\widetilde{D}U||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n} \times (0, \infty) z^{1-s} dx dz)}^{2},$$

where $\widetilde{D}U = \left(\frac{\partial U}{\partial x^1}, \dots, \frac{\partial U}{\partial x^n}, \frac{\partial U}{\partial z}\right)$ denotes the Euclidean gradient in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . This is a Hilbert space with the natural inner product that induces the norm above. It is a known fact that any $U \in \widetilde{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n \times (0,\infty))$ has a well defined trace in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ that we denote by $U(x,\cdot)$.

The following essential result by Caffarelli and Silvestre shows that fractional powers of the Laplacian on \mathbb{R}^n can be realized as a Dirichlet-to-Neumann map via an extension problem.

Theorem 2.22 ([9]). Let $s \in (0,2)$ and $u \in H^{s/2}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap C^{\infty}(M)$. Then, there is a unique solution U = U(x,z): $\mathbb{R}^n \times [0,+\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ among functions in $\widetilde{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n \times (0,\infty))$ to the problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_x U + \frac{\partial^2 U}{\partial z^2} + \frac{1-s}{z} \frac{\partial U}{\partial z} = 0, & on \ \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty) \\ U(x, 0) = u(x) & for \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \end{cases}$$
(36)

and it satisfies

$$\lim_{z \to 0^{+}} z^{1-s} \frac{\partial U}{\partial z}(x, z) = -\beta_{s}^{-1} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u(x),$$
(37)

where Δ_x denotes the standard Laplacian on \mathbb{R}^n and β_s is a positive constant that depends only on s.

In [9], three different proofs of this fact are presented, but each of these proofs relies on some additive structure of the base space. To prove that the extension procedure produces the fractional power of the Laplacian also on a Riemannian manifold, which is the setting we are interested in, one has to rely on different ideas. It was proved by P.R. Stinga in [21] that the unique solution to (36) verifying (37) admits the explicit representation

$$U(p,z) = \frac{z^s}{2^s \Gamma(s/2)} \int_0^\infty P_t u(p) \, e^{-\frac{z^2}{4t}} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}},\tag{38}$$

which expresses U in terms of the solution to the heat equation $P_t u$ (and thus makes sense also on a manifold). The proof of this fact does not strongly rely on the additive structure of \mathbb{R}^n and will be proved now also on closed Riemannian manifolds.

First, let us define the weighted Sobolev spaces for the extension on compact manifolds.

Definition 2.23. We define the weighted Sobolev space

$$\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M}) = \widetilde{H}^1(M \times (0, \infty))$$

as the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(M \times [0, \infty))$ with the norm

$$\|U\|_{\widetilde{H}^1}^2 := \|TU\|_{L^2(M)}^2 + \|\widetilde{\nabla} U\|_{L^2(\widetilde{M},z^{1-s}dVdz)}^2$$

where $TU = U(\cdot,0)$ is the trace of U and $\widetilde{\nabla}U = (\nabla U, U_z)$ denotes the gradient in $M \times (0,+\infty)$. This is a Hilbert space with the natural inner product that induces the norm above. Moreover, basically by definition, any $U \in \widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ leaves a trace in $L^2(M \times \{0\})$.

Theorem 2.24. Let (M^n, g) be a closed Riemannian manifold, let $s \in (0, 2)$ and $u : M \to \mathbb{R}$ be smooth. Consider the product manifold $\widetilde{M} = M \times (0, +\infty)$ endowed with the natural product metric⁵. Then, there is a unique solution $U : M \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ among functions in $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ to

$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}U) = 0 & \text{in } \widetilde{M}, \\ U(p,0) = u(p) & \text{for } p \in \partial \widetilde{M} = M, \end{cases}$$
(39)

given by (38), and it satisfies

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = 2\beta_s \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\widetilde{\nabla} U|^2 z^{1-s} \, dV dz \,, \tag{40}$$

where $[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2$ is defined through (2) and

$$\beta_s = \frac{2^{s-1}\Gamma(s/2)}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \,. \tag{41}$$

Moreover,

$$\lim_{z \to 0^{+}} z^{1-s} \frac{\partial U}{\partial z}(p, z) = -\beta_{s}^{-1} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u(p) , \qquad (42)$$

where the fractional Laplacian on the right-hand side is defined by either (7) or (8).

⁵That is, the metric defined by $\widetilde{g}((\xi_1, z_1), (\xi_2, z_2)) = g(\xi_1, \xi_2) + z_1 z_2$, and where $\widetilde{\text{div}}$ and $\widetilde{\nabla}$ denote the divergence and Riemannian gradient with respect to this product metric respectively.

Proof. Note that functions in $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ leave a well defined trace (that is, there exists a continuous trace operator with respect to the norm on $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$) on $M \times \{0\}$. Then, the fact that a solution among functions in $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ exists follows by direct minimization of the associated energy $v \mapsto \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\widetilde{\nabla} v|^2 z^{1-s} dV dz$ over $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$. Since the energy is convex, the solution is also unique⁶.

From here we divide the proof in two steps.

Step 1. We show that the (unique) solution $U \in \widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ to (39) is given by (38).

Making the identification $T(M \times (0, +\infty)) \simeq TM \times (0, +\infty)$ we have

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\text{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}U) &= \text{div}_g(z^{1-s}\nabla U) + \frac{d}{dz}(z^{1-s}U_z) \\ &= z^{1-s}\Delta U + (1-s)z^{-s}U_z + z^{1-s}U_{zz} \\ &= z^{1-s}(\Delta U + \frac{1-s}{z}U_z + U_{zz}) \,. \end{split}$$

Thus, in order to prove that U solves $\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}U)=0$ we show that U (weakly) solves

$$\mathcal{L}(U) := \Delta U + \frac{1-s}{z} U_z + U_{zz} = 0.$$
 (43)

Define

$$G(z,t) := \frac{1}{2^{s}\Gamma(s/2)} \frac{z^{s}e^{-\frac{z^{2}}{4t}}}{t^{1+s/2}},$$
(44)

so that (38) rewrites simply as

$$U(\cdot,z) = \int_0^\infty (P_t u) G(z,t) dt.$$
 (45)

It can be easily checked that *G* satisfies

$$-G_t + \frac{1-s}{z}G_z + G_{zz} = 0, (46)$$

and also

$$\lim_{t\to 0^+}\sup_{[z_1,z_2]}G(\cdot,t)=0\,,\quad \lim_{t\to\infty}\sup_{[z_1,z_2]}G(\cdot,t)=0\,,$$

for every $[z_1, z_2] \subset (0, +\infty)$. Moreover, from the definition of G and the fact that u is smooth we se that the integral in the right-hand side of (45) is absolutely convergent in $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$. Hence $U \in \widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$.

Now we check that U weakly solves the desired problem. Let $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})$, $K := \operatorname{supp}(\varphi)$ and $z_1, z_2 \in (0, +\infty)$ such that $K \subset M \times [z_1, z_2]$. Let also

$$\mathcal{L}^*(\varphi) := \Delta \varphi + \partial_z \left(rac{1-s}{z} \varphi
ight) + arphi_{zz} \,.$$

This is the formal adjoint of the operator in (43). Clearly $\mathcal{L}^*(\varphi)$ still has compact support in $K \subset \subset \widetilde{M}$ and is smooth. Then

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} U \mathcal{L}^*(\varphi) \, dV dz = \int_{\widetilde{M}} \int_0^\infty (P_t u) G(z, t) \mathcal{L}^*(\varphi) \, dt dV dz \,,$$

and we claim that this integral is absolutely convergent. Indeed

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} \int_{0}^{\infty} |(P_{t}u)G(z,t)\mathcal{L}^{*}(\varphi)| dt dV dz \leq \|\mathcal{L}^{*}(\varphi)\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{K} |P_{t}u||G(z,t)| dV dz dt$$

$$\leq C \left(\int_{K} |P_{t}u|^{2} |G(z,t)|^{2} z^{1-s} dV dz \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{K} \frac{1}{z^{1-s}} dV dz \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} < +\infty,$$

⁶A direct proof of uniqueness can be given using Lemma 3.3.

since the integral in (45) is absolutely convergent in $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$. Hence we can exchange the order of integration and we get, integrating by parts in space many times

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} U \mathcal{L}^*(\varphi) dV dz = \int_0^\infty \left(\int_K (P_t u) G(z, t) \mathcal{L}^*(\varphi) dV dz \right) dt$$

$$= \int_0^\infty \int_K \left(G(z, t) \Delta(P_t u) + (P_t u) \frac{1 - s}{z} G_z(z, t) + (P_t u) G_{zz}(z, t) \right) \varphi dV dz dt.$$

Since $P_t u$ is smooth and solves the heat equation, the first term equals to

$$\int_0^\infty \int_K G(z,t) \Delta(P_t u) \, dV dz dt = \int_0^\infty \int_K G(z,t) \partial_t(P_t u) \, dV dz dt = \int_K \int_0^\infty G(z,t) \partial_t(P_t u) \, dt dV dz$$

$$= \int_K (P_t u) G(z,t) \, dV dz \Big|_{0+}^\infty - \int_K \int_0^\infty (P_t u) G_t(z,t) \, dt dV dz.$$

The boundary terms vanish since

$$\left| \int_{K} (P_{t}u)G(z,t) dVdz \right| \leq \left(\int_{M} |P_{t}u| dV \right) \left(\int_{z_{1}}^{z_{2}} |G(z,t)| dz \right)$$

$$\leq |M|^{1/2} ||u||_{L^{2}(M)} |z_{2} - z_{1}| \sup_{[z_{1},z_{2}]} G(\cdot,t) \to 0,$$

both as $t \to \infty$ and as $t \to 0^+$. Hence, putting all together and using (46)

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} \mathcal{L}(U) \varphi \, dV dz = \int_{\widetilde{M}} U \mathcal{L}^*(\varphi) \, dV_p dz = \int_K \int_0^\infty (P_t u) \left(-G_t + \frac{1-s}{z} G_z + G_z z \right) \varphi \, dV dz dt = 0.$$

Hence U given by (38) is a weak solution of (43), and by standard elliptic regularity it is also a classical solution.

Moreover, the fact that $U(\cdot, 0^+) = u$ follows by the explicit formula (38). Indeed, by a simple change of variable in the integral we have

$$U(p,z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s/2)} \int_0^\infty (P_{z^2/4r}u)(p) \frac{e^{-r}}{r^{1-s}} dr$$

and taking $z \to 0^+$ in this formula gives $U(\cdot, 0^+) = u$. This concludes Step 1.

Step 2. Proof of (42).

Note that by the representation formula we just proved for *U* we have

$$\tau_z^s U(p) := \frac{U(p,z) - u(p)}{z^s} = \frac{1}{2^s \Gamma(s/2)} \int_0^\infty (P_t u(p) - u(p)) e^{-\frac{z^2}{4t}} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}.$$

Moreover, by L'Hopital's rule

$$\lim_{z \to 0^+} \tau_z^s U = \lim_{z \to 0^+} s^{-1} z^{1-s} \frac{\partial U}{\partial z}.$$

Writing $P_t u$ as the convolution against the heat kernel H_M of M we get

$$\tau_z^s U(p) = \frac{1}{2^s \Gamma(s/2)} \int_0^\infty \int_M H_M(p,q,t) (u(q) - u(p)) \frac{e^{-\frac{z^2}{4t}}}{t^{1+s/2}} dV_q dt.$$

Since u is smooth, and since $K_s^{\varepsilon}(p,q)$ is non-singular for $\varepsilon > 0$ on the diagonal $\{p = q\}$ (recall (10)) there holds

$$\int_{M} \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} H_{M}(p,q,t) |u(q)-u(p)| \frac{e^{-\frac{z^{2}}{4t}}}{t^{1+s/2}} dt dV_{q} = \int_{M} |u(q)-u(p)| K_{s}^{z}(p,q) dV_{q} < +\infty.$$

Thus the integral in $\tau_z^s U(p)$ is absolutely convergent, and we can exchange the order of integration to get

$$\tau_z^s U(p) = \frac{\Gamma(1 - s/2)}{s2^{s-1}\Gamma(s/2)} \int_M (u(q) - u(p)) K_s^z(p,q) \, dV_q \, .$$

From here, by the very definition of the principal value

$$\lim_{z \to 0^{+}} z^{1-s} \frac{\partial U}{\partial z} = \lim_{z \to 0^{+}} s \cdot \tau_{z}^{s} U = \lim_{z \to 0^{+}} \beta_{s}^{-1} \int_{M} (u(q) - u) K_{s}^{z}(p, q) dV_{q}$$

$$= -\beta_{s}^{-1} \left(p.v. \int_{M} (u - u(q)) K_{s}(p, q) dV_{q} \right)$$

$$= -\beta_{s}^{-1} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u.$$

This finishes Step 2.

Before proving (40) we prove also that the convergence in (42) holds in $L^r(M)$ for every $r \in [1, +\infty)$. Since we have pointwise convergence, we show that the sequence is dominated. In particular, we prove that for $z \le 1$ there holds

$$z^{1-s}|U_z(\cdot,z)| \le C, \tag{47}$$

where C depends on $\|\Delta u\|_{L^{\infty}}$, $\|u\|_{L^{\infty}}$ and s. The proof is a standard barrier argument very similar to the proof of Lemma 3.5, we just sketch the argument. Consider $b(p,z) := u(p) - C(z^2 - z^s)$, for C > 0 that will be chosen soon. Since

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}b) = z^{1-s}(\Delta u - 2sC)$$
,

we see that b is a subsolution of (39) if we take $C = \frac{1}{2s} \|\Delta u\|_{L^{\infty}}$. Moreover $U \le b$ on $M \times [0,1]$. Hence b is barrier for U, and by the maximum principle for $z \le 1$ we have

$$U(\cdot,z) \le b(\cdot,z) = u - \frac{1}{2s} \|\Delta u\|_{L^{\infty}} (z^2 - z^s) \le u + \frac{z^s}{2s} \|\Delta u\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

and this implies

$$\lim_{z \to 0^+} z^{1-s} U_z = \lim_{z \to 0^+} s \frac{U(\cdot, z) - u}{z^s} \le \frac{1}{2} \|\Delta u\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

Completely analougusly using -b as a barrier for -U one gets also the reverse inequality. Moreover, note that the function $V := z^{1-s}U_z$ solves $-(\Delta V + V_{zz}) + \frac{1-s}{z}V_z = 0$, thus by the maximum principle

$$\sup_{M\times(0,1]}|V|\leq \max\left\{\sup_{M}V(\cdot,0^{+}),\sup_{M}V(\cdot,1)\right\}\leq \max\left\{\frac{1}{2}\|\Delta u\|_{L^{\infty}},\sup_{M}V(\cdot,1)\right\}.$$

But since $V(\cdot,1) = U_z(\cdot,1)$ we have by standard interior gradient estimates

$$|U_z(p,1)| \leq C \sup_{\widetilde{B}_{1/10}(p,1)} |U| \leq C ||u||_{L^{\infty}},$$

for some absolute constant C > 0 independent of u. Putting everything together

$$\sup_{M\times(0,1]}|V|=\sup_{M\times(0,1]}z^{1-s}|U_z|\leq C(\|\Delta u\|_{L^{\infty}},\|u\|_{L^{\infty}}),$$

and this concludes the proof of (47).

We're left with proving (40). Integrating by parts, for every $\delta > 0$ we find that

$$\int_{M\times[\delta,\infty)} |\widetilde{\nabla} U|^2 z^{1-s} \, dV dz = \beta_s^{-1} \int_M U(\cdot,\delta) \delta^{1-s} U_z(\cdot,\delta) \, dV \,.$$

Letting now $\delta \to 0^+$, by (42), (47) and dominated convergence on the right-hand side

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\widetilde{\nabla} U|^2 z^{1-s} \, dV dz = \beta_s^{-1} \int_{M} u(-\Delta)^{s/2} u \, dV = \frac{\beta_s^{-1}}{2} [u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 \, .$$

This concludes the proof.

We have just used the following fact, which is proved with a one-line computation using (8).

Proposition 2.25. For a smooth function, one has that

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = 2 \int_M u(-\Delta)^{s/2} u \, dV.$$

3 The fractional Sobolev energy

3.1 Several definitions and their equivalence

We recall the definition for the fractional Sobolev seminorm that we have used in the previous section, and we define the associated functional space.

Definition 3.1. We define the fractional Sobolev seminorm $[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}$ for $s \in (0,2)$ as

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = \iint_{M \times M} (u(p) - u(q))^2 K_s(p, q) \, dV_p dV_q \,. \tag{48}$$

The associated functional space $H^{s/2}(M)$ is

$$H^{s/2}(M) = \{ u \in L^2(M) : [u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 < \infty \}, \tag{49}$$

and it is called the fractional Sobolev space of order s/2. This is a Hilbert space with norm given by

$$||u||_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = ||u||_{L^2(M)}^2 + [u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2.$$

The fractional Sobolev seminorm can also be expressed using spectral or extension approaches:

Proposition 3.2. Let $u \in H^{s/2}(M)$. Then, the fractional Sobolev seminorm (48) is equal to

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = 2\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k^{s/2} \langle u, \phi_k \rangle_{L^2(M)}^2$$
(50)

and

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^{2} = \inf_{v \in \widetilde{H}^{1}(\widetilde{M})} \left\{ 2\beta_{s} \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\widetilde{\nabla}v|^{2} z^{1-s} \, dV dz : v(\cdot, 0) = u(\cdot) \text{ in } L^{2}(M) \right\}. \tag{51}$$

Moreover, the conclusions of Theorem 2.24 also hold for u (with the exception of (42)), and the infimum in (51) is attained by the unique $U \in \widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ given by Theorem 2.24. In particular, we also have that

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = 2\beta_s \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\widetilde{\nabla} U|^2 z^{1-s} \, dV dz \,, \tag{52}$$

where β_s is the constant defined in (41).

Proof. **Step 1.** We show that (48) and (50) coincide for a function in $L^2(M)$.

Recall the regularised kernel K_s^{ε} defined in (10), which is bounded, symmetrical and increases monotonically to K_s as $\varepsilon \to 0$. By monotone convergence and these properties, for any function $u \in L^2(M)$ we can write

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^{2} = \iint_{M \times M} (u(p) - u(q))^{2} K_{s}(p,q) dV_{p} dV_{q}$$

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{M \times M} (u(p) - u(q))^{2} K_{s}^{\varepsilon}(p,q) dV_{p} dV_{q}$$

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} 2 \iint_{M \times M} (u(p) - u(q)) u(p) K_{s}^{\varepsilon}(p,q) dV_{p} dV_{q}$$

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} 2 \int_{M} ((-\Delta)_{\varepsilon}^{s/2} u)(p) u(p) K_{s}^{\varepsilon}(p,q) dV_{p},$$
(53)

where we have set

$$\begin{split} ((-\Delta)_{\varepsilon}^{s/2}u)(p) &:= \int_{M} (u(p) - u(q)) K_{s}^{\varepsilon}(p,q) \, dV_{q} \\ &= \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1 - s/2)} \int_{M} (u(p) - u(q)) \int_{0}^{\infty} H_{M}(p,q,t) e^{-\varepsilon^{2}/4t} \frac{dt}{t^{1 + s/2}} \, dV_{q} \\ &= \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1 - s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} (u(p) - P_{t}u(p)) e^{-\varepsilon^{2}/4t} \frac{dt}{t^{1 + s/2}} \, . \end{split}$$

Now, if $(\phi_k)_{k>0}$ is an orthonormal basis of $L^2(M)$ made of eigenfunctions for $(-\Delta)$, with eigenvalues

$$0 = \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 \le \lambda_2 \le \ldots \le \lambda_k \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} +\infty$$
,

then they are also eigenfunctions for $(-\Delta)^{s/2}_{\varepsilon}$ with eigenvalues

$$\lambda_{k,\varepsilon}^{s/2} := \frac{s/2}{\Gamma(1-s/2)} \int_0^\infty (1-e^{-\lambda_k t}) e^{-\varepsilon^2/4t} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}},$$

which one sees immediately by applying the formula above for $(-\Delta)_{\varepsilon}^{s/2}$ to ϕ_k and using that $P_t\phi_k = e^{-\lambda_k t}\phi_k$. These eigenvalues are uniformly bounded in k (for a fixed $\varepsilon > 0$) and increase monotonically to the $\lambda_k^{s/2}$ as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$.

Expanding $u = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k \phi_k$, with $a_k := \langle u, \phi_k \rangle_{L^2(M)}$, we deduce that

$$(-\Delta)^{s/2}_{\varepsilon}u = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \lambda^{s/2}_{k,\varepsilon} \langle u, \phi_k \rangle_{L^2(M)} \phi_k.$$

We remark that the expression makes sense since the $\lambda_{k,\varepsilon}^{s/2}$ are bounded uniformly in k (for a fixed ε), and thus the sum is absolutely convergent in $L^2(M)$. Using this fact, substituting into (53) gives that

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^{2} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} 2 \int_{M} ((-\Delta)_{\varepsilon}^{s/2} u)(p) u(p) K_{s}^{\varepsilon}(p,q) dV_{p}$$
$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} 2 \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \lambda_{k,\varepsilon}^{s/2} a_{k}^{2}.$$

Using again the monotone convergence theorem (for sums now), we deduce that

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = 2\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \lambda_k^{s/2} a_k^2$$

as desired.

Step 2. We show that U given by the representation formula (38), which was only used for smooth functions u, is valid for $u \in H^{s/2}(M)$ in general and moreover (52) still holds with this U.

Fix $u \in H^{s/2}(M)$, and let U be defined through the representation formula (38). We will first show that U has finite $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ energy, using the spectral expression (50) for the energy that we have just proved. Recall that if ϕ_k is an eigenfunction of $(-\Delta)$, then $P_t\phi_k = e^{-\lambda_k t}\phi_k$. Therefore, writing $u = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k \phi_k$, where $a_k := \langle u, \phi_k \rangle_{L^2(M)}$, we have that

$$U(p,z) = \frac{z^{s}}{2^{s}\Gamma(s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} P_{t}u(p) e^{-\frac{z^{2}}{4t}} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}$$
$$= \frac{z^{s}}{2^{s}\Gamma(s/2)} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{k}\phi_{k}(p) \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_{k}t - \frac{z^{2}}{4t}} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}.$$

Then, we can compute (recall that $\nabla = \nabla_p$ denotes the gradient on M)

$$\nabla U(p,z) = \frac{z^s}{2^s \Gamma(s/2)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k \nabla \phi_k(p) \int_0^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_k t - \frac{z^2}{4t}} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \partial_z U(p,z) &= \frac{1}{2^s \Gamma(s/2)} \sum_{k=1}^\infty a_k \phi_k(p) \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda_k t - \frac{z^2}{4t}} \left(s z^{s-1} - \frac{z^{1+s}}{2t} \right) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} \\ &= \frac{z^{s-1}}{2^s \Gamma(s/2)} \sum_{k=1}^\infty a_k \phi_k(p) \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda_k t - \frac{z^2}{4t}} \left(s - \frac{z^2}{2t} \right) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} \,. \end{split}$$

Recall that the ϕ_i and ϕ_j are orthogonal in $L^2(M)$ and $H^1(M)$ seminorms for $i \neq j$, and that moreover $\int_M \phi_k^2 = 1$ and $\int_M |\nabla \phi_k|^2 = \lambda_k$ for every k. Then, given $z \in \mathbb{R}_+$ we find that

$$\int_{M\times\{z\}} |\nabla U(p,z)|^2 dV_p = \frac{z^{2s}}{2^{2s}\Gamma^2(s/2)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k^2 \Big(\int_0^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_k t - \frac{z^2}{4t}} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} \Big)^2 \int_M |\nabla \phi_k|^2 dV$$

$$= \frac{z^{2s}}{2^{2s}\Gamma^2(s/2)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k a_k^2 \Big(\int_0^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_k t - \frac{z^2}{4t}} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} \Big)^2$$

$$= \frac{z^{2s}}{2^{2s}\Gamma^2(s/2)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k^{1+s} a_k^2 \Big(\int_0^{\infty} e^{-r - \frac{z^2 \lambda_k}{4r}} \frac{dr}{r^{1+s/2}} \Big)^2,$$

where in the last line we have performed the change of variables $r = \lambda_k t$.

We can argue analogously for $\partial_z U$, which leads to

$$\int_{M\times\{z\}} \left(\partial_z U(p,z)\right)^2 dV_p = \frac{z^{2s-2}}{2^{2s}\Gamma(s/2)^2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k^2 \left(\int_0^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_k t - \frac{z^2}{4t}} \left(s - \frac{z^2}{2t} \right) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}} \right)^2$$

$$= \frac{z^{2s-2}}{2^{2s}\Gamma(s/2)^2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k^2 \lambda_k^s \left(\int_0^{\infty} e^{-r - \frac{z^2 \lambda_k}{4r}} \left(s - \frac{z^2 \lambda_k}{2r} \right) \frac{dr}{r^{1+s/2}} \right)^2.$$

Now, multiplying by z^{1-s} and integrating in z over $(0, \infty)$, and then performing the change of variables $z = \lambda_k^{-1/2} w$ (so that $z^2 \lambda_k = w^2$), gives that

$$\begin{split} \int_{M\times\mathbb{R}_{+}} |\nabla U(p,z)|^{2} z^{1-s} dV_{p} \, dz &= \frac{1}{2^{2s}\Gamma^{2}(s/2)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{k}^{1+s} a_{k}^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} z^{1+s} \Big(\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-r - \frac{z^{2} \lambda_{k}}{4r}} \frac{dr}{r^{1+s/2}} \Big)^{2} dz \\ &= \frac{1}{2^{2s}\Gamma^{2}(s/2)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{k}^{s/2} a_{k}^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} w^{1+s} \Big(\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-r - \frac{w^{2}}{4r}} \frac{dr}{r^{1+s/2}} \Big)^{2} dw \\ &= 2c_{1}(s) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{k}^{s/2} a_{k}^{2} \\ &= c_{1}(s) [u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^{2} \, , \end{split}$$

and similarly

$$\begin{split} \int_{M\times\mathbb{R}_{+}} |\partial_{z}U(p,z)|^{2}z^{1-s}dV_{p}\,dz &= \frac{1}{2^{2s}\Gamma^{2}(s/2)}\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\lambda_{k}^{s}a_{k}^{2}\int_{0}^{\infty}z^{s-1}\left(\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-r-\frac{z^{2}\lambda_{k}}{4r}}\left(s-\frac{z^{2}\lambda_{k}}{2r}\right)\frac{dr}{r^{1+s/2}}\right)^{2}dz \\ &= \frac{1}{2^{2s}\Gamma^{2}(s/2)}\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\lambda_{k}^{s/2}a_{k}^{2}\int_{0}^{\infty}w^{s-1}\left(\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-r-\frac{w^{2}}{4r}}\left(s-\frac{w^{2}}{2r}\right)\frac{dr}{r^{1+s/2}}\right)^{2}dw \\ &= 2c_{2}(s)\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\lambda_{k}^{s/2}a_{k}^{2} \\ &= c_{2}(s)[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Here, we have defined $c_1(s)$ and $c_2(s)$ implicitly as the corresponding constants (which depend only on s) resulting from the expression, and we have applied (50) in the last line in both computations.

Putting everything together, we get that

$$\int_{M\times\mathbb{R}_+} |\widetilde{\nabla} U(p,z)|^2 z^{1-s} \, dV_p dz = (c_1(s) + c_2(s)) [u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2.$$

We could write the constant $(c_1(s) + c_2(s))$ explicitly in terms of the resulting complicated integral expressions. On the other hand, thanks to (40) and (41) from Theorem 2.24 (which was proved only for smooth functions), we know that $c_1(s) + c_2(s) = (2\beta_s)^{-1}$. This proves (52) with U given by the representation formula (38).

In particular, we now know that U has finite energy for the extension problem. Moreover, arguing as in Step 1 of the proof of Theorem 2.24, it is simple to see that U has u as its trace in $L^2(M)$, and that it is a weak (meaning in duality with $C_c^\infty(\widetilde{M})$) solution to $\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}U)=0$. Let now $U_{\min}\in\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ be defined as the unique minimizer of (51). The fact that U_{\min} exists follows by a standard lower-semicontinuity argument, just as at the beginning of the proof of Theorem 2.24, together with the fact that the space of competitors is not empty (which holds since for example U defined above, which has finite $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ energy, is one such competitor). Clearly, U_{\min} is also a weak solution of $\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}U_{\min})=0$ with trace u.

Step 3.
$$U = U_{\min}$$
.

This follows directly from the uniqueness of weak solutions shown in Lemma 3.3, which we state as a separate result after the present proof.

With this, we conclude the proof of Proposition 3.2.

Lemma 3.3. (Uniqueness of weak solutions) Let $u \in L^2(M)$, and denote by $T : \widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M}) \to L^2(M)$ the trace operator. Then, there exists at most one solution $U \in \widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ to the problem

$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}U) = 0 & \text{in duality with } C_c^{\infty}(M\times(0,\infty)), \\ TU = u. \end{cases}$$

Proof. Suppose U_1 and U_2 are two such solutions and denote $V := U_1 - U_2$. By hypothesis TV = 0.

We claim that there exists a sequence $(V_k)_k \in C_c^{\infty}(M \times (0, \infty))$ such that

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\widetilde{\nabla} V_k - \widetilde{\nabla} V|^2 z^{1-s} \, dV dz \to 0 \,, \quad \text{as } k \to \infty \,. \tag{54}$$

The point here being that V_k is zero both in a neighborhood of $M \times \{0\}$ and in a neighborhood of infinity.

The proof is inspired by (a weighted version of) [16, Section 5.5, Theorem 2]. By the definition of the space $\widetilde{H}^1(\widetilde{M})$ there exists a sequence $(U_k)_k \subset C^{\infty}(M \times [0,\infty))$ with (as $k \to \infty$)

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\widetilde{\nabla} U_k - \widetilde{\nabla} V|^2 z^{1-s} \, dV dz \to 0, \text{ and } TU_k = U_k(\cdot, 0) \to 0 \text{ in } L^2(M).$$

Note also that V is smooth in $M \times (0, \infty)$. Now, for every $(p, z) \in \widetilde{M}$, by the fundamental theorem of calculus and Holder's inequality

$$|U_k(p,z)|^2 \le 2|U_k(p,0)|^2 + 2\left(\int_0^z |\widetilde{\nabla} U_k(p,y)| \, dy\right)^2$$

$$\le C|U_k(p,0)|^2 + Cz^s \int_0^z |\widetilde{\nabla} U_k(p,y)|^2 y^{1-s} \, dy$$

and integrating for $p \in M$ gives

$$\int_{M} |U_{k}(p,z)|^{2} dV_{p} \leq C \int_{M} |U_{k}(\cdot,0)|^{2} + Cz^{s} \int_{M} \int_{0}^{z} |\widetilde{\nabla} U_{k}(p,y)|^{2} y^{1-s} dy dV_{p}.$$

Letting $k \to \infty$ we get

$$\int_{M} |V(\cdot, z)|^{2} dV \le Cz^{s} \int_{M} \int_{0}^{z} |\widetilde{\nabla} V|^{2} y^{1-s} dy dV_{p}.$$
 (55)

Now, for every $k \ge 10$, let $\eta_k \in C^{\infty}([0,+\infty))$ be a smooth cutoff function with $\eta = 0$ on [0,1/k], $\eta = 1$ on $[2/k,\infty)$ and $|\eta'| \le Ck$. We claim that the sequence $V\eta_k = V(p,z)\eta_k(z) \in C_c^{\infty}(M \times (0,\infty))$ has the desired property. We have

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\widetilde{\nabla}(V\eta_k) - \widetilde{\nabla}V|^2 z^{1-s} \, dV dz \le C \int_{\widetilde{M}} |\widetilde{\nabla}V|^2 (1-\eta_k)^2 z^{1-s} + C \int_{\widetilde{M}} |V|^2 |\eta_k'|^2 z^{1-s} =: I_{1,k} + I_{2,k} \, .$$

We estimate the two integrals separately.

For the first integral we have

$$I_{1,k} \leq C \int_0^{2/k} \int_M |\widetilde{\nabla} V|^2 z^{1-s} dV dz \to 0$$
,

as $k \to \infty$, since *V* has finite energy.

Moreover, by (55), we have regarding the second integral

$$\begin{split} I_{2,k} &\leq Ck^2 \int_0^{2/k} \int_M z^{1-s} |V|^2 \, dV dz \\ &\leq Ck^2 \int_0^{2/k} z^{1-s} \left(z^s \int_M \int_0^z |\widetilde{\nabla} V|^2 y^{1-s} \, dy dV \right) dz \\ &\leq Ck^2 \left(\int_0^{2/k} z \, dz \right) \left(\int_0^{2/k} \int_M |\widetilde{\nabla} V|^2 y^{1-s} \, dV dy \right) \\ &= C \int_0^{2/k} \int_M |\widetilde{\nabla} V|^2 y^{1-s} \, dV dy \to 0 \end{split}$$

as $k \to \infty$, again as *V* has finite energy.

Hence $V_k := V\eta_k$ has the desired property (54), and it can be used as a test function in the weak formulation in duality with $C_c^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})$. Multiplying $\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}V) = 0$ by V_k , integrating on \widetilde{M} and integrating by parts gives

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} (\widetilde{\nabla} V \cdot \widetilde{\nabla} V_k) z^{1-s} \, dV dz = 0.$$

Letting $k \to \infty$ and using (54) gives

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} |\widetilde{\nabla} V|^2 z^{1-s} \, dV dz = 0 \,,$$

hence V is constant, and then (since TV=0) it must be $V\equiv 0$. Thus, $U_1=U_2$ coincide, and the proof is complete.

3.2 A note on noncompact manifolds

In this subsection, we briefly describe if and how the given previous definitions of the spaces $H^{s/2}$ generalize to the case of complete, noncompact Riemannian manifolds (without boundary). Recall definitions (i)-(iii) from the introduction (see (1)–(4)). First, let us rewrite definitions (i) and (ii) of the $H^{s/2}$ seminorm on a closed manifold M exploiting the corresponding fractional Laplacians. Indeed, note that definition (2) can be rewritten (say, for smooth functions) as

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = 2 \int_M u(-\Delta)_{Si}^{s/2} u \, dV,$$

where $(-\Delta)_{Si}^s$ is the singular integral fractional Laplacian given by (8). Similarly, the spectral definition (3) of the seminorm can be written as

$$[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 = 2 \int_M u(-\Delta)_{\text{Spec}}^{s/2} u \, dV$$
,

where $(-\Delta)_{\text{Spec}}^{s/2}$ is the spectral fractional Laplacian given by

$$(-\Delta)_{\text{Spec}}^{s/2} u = \sum_{k>0} \lambda_k^{s/2} \langle u, \varphi_k \rangle_{L^2(M)} \varphi_k.$$
 (56)

Here, the convergence on the right-hand side is to be understood in $L^2(M)$.

Both of these definitions generalize to the case of noncompact manifolds.

Indeed, the singular integral definition (8) applies verbatim to the case of noncompact manifolds. This requires dealing with the heat kernel on noncompact manifolds. We refer to the survey [18] for the construction and properties of the heat kernel on complete, noncompact Riemannian manifolds. In the case of the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n , this viewpoint is consistent (i.e. coincides) with the original definition by Caffarelli, Roquejoffre, and Savin in [8] (see also Remark 2.4).

Moreover, also the spectral fractional Laplacian expression has an interpretation on noncompact manifolds since actually it is not needed that the spectrum is discrete. Indeed, for every (possibly) noncompact manifold M we can regard $(-\Delta)$ as a densely defined, nonnegative, essentially self-adjoint unbounded operator on $L^2(M)$. Then, by the spectral theorem, there exists a unique *spectral resolution* E of $(-\Delta)$. That is, an operator-valued measure

$$E: \{ \text{Borel subsets of } [0, +\infty) \} \to \{ \text{Bounded linear operators on } L^2(M) \}$$

supported on the spectrum $\sigma(-\Delta) \subset [0, +\infty)$ of $(-\Delta)$ (which can, in general, be non-discrete) such that, for every $u \in \text{Dom}(-\Delta)$ and $v \in L^2(M)$

$$\langle -\Delta u, v \rangle_{L^2(M)} = \int_0^\infty \lambda \, d\langle E_\lambda u, v \rangle = \int_{\sigma(-\Delta)} \lambda \, d\langle E_\lambda u, v \rangle.$$

Actually E_{λ} is a projector, that is a non-negative and self-adjoint operatort with $E_{\lambda}^2 = E_{\lambda}$, for every $\lambda \in [0, +\infty)$. Then, the spectral fractional Laplacian is defined by the spectral theorem as

$$(-\Delta)_{\text{Spec}}^{s/2} u := \int_0^\infty \lambda^{s/2} dE_\lambda u \,, \tag{57}$$

for every u in its natural domain

$$u \in \mathrm{Dom}((-\Delta)^{s/2}_{\mathrm{Spec}}) = \left\{ v \in L^2(M) \mid \int_0^\infty \lambda^s d\|E_\lambda v\|^2 < +\infty \right\}.$$

This formula coincides with definition (56) we gave for closed manifolds, since in the case of closed manifolds the spectrum $\sigma(-\Delta)$ is discrete and the spectral measure E is supported on the eigenvalues.

Moreover, it is important to notice that the spectral formula (57) coincides, essentially always (meaning on the natural function space where both formulas make sense and the integrals converge), with the one we gave in (7) using Bochner's integrals. Indeed, for every u that makes the integral in (7) convergent in the sense of Bochner, then $u \in \text{Dom}((-\Delta)_{\text{Spec}}^{s/2})$ and the two Laplacians coincide $(-\Delta)_{\text{Spec}}^{s/2}u = (-\Delta)_{B}^{s/2}u$. Making a complete and precise proof of this is beyond the scope of this work, but the proof is essentially as follows. Let $u \in \text{Dom}((-\Delta)_{\text{Spec}}^{s/2})$ so that

$$\int_0^\infty \lambda^s d\|E_\lambda u\|^2 < +\infty,$$

and recall formula (6). Then (see Section A.5.4 in [19] to justify all the steps)

$$\begin{split} \|(-\Delta)_{\mathrm{Spec}}^{s/2} u\|_{L^{2}(M)}^{2} &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda^{s} d\|E_{\lambda} u\|^{2} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} (e^{-\lambda t} - 1) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}\right)^{2} d\|E_{\lambda} u\|^{2} \\ &= \left\|\frac{1}{\Gamma(-s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} (e^{t\Delta} u - u) \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}}\right\|_{L^{2}(M)}^{2} = \|(-\Delta)_{B}^{s/2} u\|_{L^{2}(M)}^{2} \,. \end{split}$$

From here, using that both $(-\Delta)_{\mathrm{Spec}}^{s/2}$ and $(-\Delta)_B^{s/2}$ are self-adjoint one can depolarize the last identity of the norms to get $(-\Delta)_{\mathrm{Spec}}^{s/2}u=(-\Delta)_B^{s/2}u$ in $L^2(M)$.

Moreover, it was proved in [12] that they also coincide, on a very general class of functions, with $(-\Delta)_{Si}^{s/2}u$ on every stochastically complete Riemannian manifold.

Regarding definition (iii), via the extension problem, it still generalizes well in the case of some non-compact manifolds. Some extra assumptions are needed in order to establish the equivalence between (i) and (iii) —see [3] for a related discussion concerning the definition of the fractional Laplacian on noncompact manifolds.

It will be clear from our proofs that, in the case of noncompact manifolds for which the equivalence of (i) and (iii) can be established, the fractional Sobolev spaces $H^{s/2}$ will enjoy the same properties as the ones established here in the case of compact manifolds (e.g. the monotonicity formula), with almost identical proofs.

3.3 Monotonicity formula for stationary points of semilinear elliptic functionals and s-minimal surfaces

The monotonicity formula for minimizing s-minimal surfaces in \mathbb{R}^n was proved in the seminal article [8], and for Allen-Cahn type critical points, it was first obtained in [7]. In [20], the monotonicity formula is shown to extend to stationary s-minimal surfaces. Here, we prove the analogous (local) monotonicity formula on a Riemannian manifold. The proof holds simultaneously for any s-minimal surface, that is, for any stationary point of the fractional perimeter regardless of second variation or regularity, and also for any stationary point of a semilinear elliptic functional with a nonnegative potential term, hence including the fractional Allen-Cahn energy. For r > 0 and $p \in M$ denote

$$B_{r}(p) = \left\{ q \in M : d_{g}(q, p) < r \right\},$$

$$\widetilde{B}_{r}^{+}(p, 0) = \left\{ (q, z) \in \widetilde{M} : d_{\widetilde{g}}((q, z), (p, 0)) < r \right\},$$

$$\partial \widetilde{B}_{r}^{+}(p, 0) = \partial \left(\widetilde{B}_{r}^{+}(p, 0) \right)$$

$$\partial^{+} \widetilde{B}_{r}^{+}(p, 0) = \partial \widetilde{B}_{r}^{+}(p, 0) \cap \{z > 0\}.$$

$$(58)$$

In all this section, since there will be no possible ambiguity, we will use ∇ instead of $\widetilde{\nabla}$ to denote the gradient in \widetilde{M} with respect to the product metric.

Theorem 3.4 (Monotonicity formula). Let (M^n, g) be an n-dimensional, closed Riemannian manifold. Let $s \in (0,2)$ and

$$\mathcal{E}(v) = [v]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 + \int_M F(v) \, dV,$$

where F is any smooth nonnegative function. Let $u: M \to \mathbb{R}$ be stationary for \mathcal{E} under inner variations, meaning that $\mathcal{E}(u) < \infty$ and for any smooth vector field X on M there holds $\frac{d}{dt}|_{t=0} \mathcal{E}(u \circ \psi_X^t) = 0$, where ψ_X^t is the flow of X at time t. For $(p_\circ, 0) \in \widetilde{M}$ define

$$\Phi(R):=\frac{1}{R^{n-s}}\left(\frac{\beta_s}{2}\int_{\widetilde{B}_R^+(p_o,0)}z^{1-s}|\nabla U(p,z)|^2\,dV_pdz+\int_{B_R(p_o)}F(u)\,dV\right),$$

where U is the unique solution given by Theorem 2.24. Then, there exist constants C = C(n) and $R_{max} = R_{max}(M, p_{\circ}) > 0$ with the following property: whenever $R_{\circ} \leq R_{max}$ and K is an upper bound for all the sectional curvatures of M in $B_{R_{\circ}}(p_{\circ})$, then

$$R \mapsto \Phi(R)e^{C\sqrt{K}R}$$
 is non-decreasing for $R < R_{\circ}$,

and the inequality

$$\Phi'(R) \ge -C\sqrt{K}\Phi(R) + \frac{s}{R^{n-s+1}} \int_{B_R(p_o)} F(u) dV + \frac{2\beta_s}{R^{n-s}} \int_{\partial^+ \widetilde{B}_P^+(p_o,0)} z^{1-s} \langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle^2 d\widetilde{\sigma}$$

holds for all $R < R_0$, with $d(\cdot) = d_{\widetilde{g}}((p_\circ, 0), \cdot)$ the distance function on \widetilde{M} from the point $(p_\circ, 0)$.

Moreover, in the particular case where $M = \mathbb{R}^n$, $F \equiv 0$, $s \in (0,1)$, and $u = \chi_E - \chi_{E^c}$ is a stationary set for the fractional s-perimeter, there holds

$$\Phi'(R) = \frac{\beta_s}{2} R^{n-s} \int_{\partial^+ \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_n^+(p_0,0)} z^{1-s} \langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle^2 dx dz \ge 0,$$

which shows that Φ is nondecreasing and that it is constant if and only if E is a cone.

Remark 3.5. It will follow from the proof that the radius R_{max} in Theorem 3.4 can be taken to be $R_{\text{max}} = \inf_{M}(p_{\circ})/4$. Moreover, since M is compact R_{max} is uniformly bounded below as $R_{\text{max}}(M, p_{\circ}) \ge \inf_{M}/4$, for all $p_{\circ} \in M$.

Before proving the monotonicity formula of Theorem 3.4, we will need two preliminary lemmas from Riemannian geometry, which will allow us to bound the "Riemannian errors" in two formulas regarding the distance function.

Lemma 3.6. Let (M^n, g) be an n-dimensional Riemannian manifold, $p \in M$, $R_0 < \inf_M(p)$ and let K be an upper bound for all the sectional curvatures in $B_{R_0}(p)$. Denote by d the distance function to the point p. Then, for all $R < \min\{R_0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{K}}\}$ there holds in $B_R(p)$:

$$|\langle \nabla_V (d\nabla d), V \rangle - |V|^2| \leq \sqrt{K}R|V|^2$$
,

for every vector field V on M.

Proof. We can compute

$$\begin{split} \langle V, \nabla_V (d\nabla d) \rangle &= \langle V, \langle V, \nabla d \rangle \nabla d \rangle + d \langle V, \nabla_V (\nabla d) \rangle \\ &= \langle V, \nabla d \rangle^2 + d \, \nabla^2 d (V, V) \,. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, the Hessian Comparison theorem—see Lemma 7.1 in [14]—gives that

$$|d \nabla^2 d(V, V) - |V - \langle V, \nabla d \rangle \nabla d|^2| \le d\sqrt{K}|V|^2$$

in $B_R(p)$, whenever $R < \min\{\inf_{M}(p), \frac{1}{\sqrt{K}}\}$. Moreover, since $|\nabla d|^2 = 1$, we also have that

$$|V - \langle V, \nabla d \rangle \nabla d|^2 = |V|^2 - 2 \langle V, \nabla d \rangle^2 + \langle V, \nabla d \rangle^2 |\nabla d|^2 = |V|^2 - \langle V, \nabla d \rangle^2.$$

Hence

$$|d \nabla^2 d(V, V) + \langle V, \nabla d \rangle^2 - |V|^2| \le d\sqrt{K}|V|^2 \le R\sqrt{K}|V|^2$$

holds in $B_R(p)$, as long as $R < \min\{R_0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{K}}\}$, and this concludes the proof.

Lemma 3.7. Let (M^n, g) be an n-dimensional Riemannian manifold, $p \in M$, $R_0 < \inf_M(p)$ and let K be an upper bound for all the sectional curvatures in $B_{R_0}(p)$. Then, there exists C = C(n) > 0 such that, for all $R < R_0$, in $B_R(p)$ we have that

$$|\operatorname{div}(d\nabla d) - n| \le CKR^2$$
.

Proof. Fix $p \in M$, and denote $d(p,\cdot)$ just by $d(\cdot)$. Observe first that every geodesic σ with $\sigma(0) = p$ and contained in $B_{R_0}(p)$ is uniquely minimizing. For any $R < R_0$ and $x \in B_R(p)$, let $\gamma : [0,d] \to M$ be the normalized geodesic with $\gamma(0) = p$ and $\gamma(d) = x$. Note also that

$$\operatorname{div}(d\nabla d) = |\nabla d|^2 + d\Delta d = 1 + d\Delta d.$$

Consider $\dot{\gamma}(d) \in T_x M$, and complete it to an orthonormal basis $\{e_1 := \dot{\gamma}(d), e_2, \dots, e_n\}$ of $T_x M$. For $i = 2, 3, \dots, n$, let γ_i be the geodesic with $\gamma_i(0) = x$ and $\dot{\gamma}_i(0) = e_i$. We can compute

$$\Delta d(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \nabla^{2} d(x)(e_{i}, e_{i}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{d^{2}}{ds^{2}} \Big|_{s=0} (d \circ \gamma_{i}) = \sum_{i=2}^{n} \frac{d^{2}}{ds^{2}} \Big|_{s=0} (d \circ \gamma_{i}),$$

where we have used that $\frac{d^2}{ds^2}\Big|_{s=0} (d\circ\gamma) = \frac{d^2}{ds^2}\Big|_{s=0} (d(x)+s) = 0.$

Let J_i be the Jacobi field along γ with $J_i(0) = 0$ and $J_i(d) = e_i$, well defined by uniqueness of geodesics between endpoints. Denote by

$$I(X,Y) = \int_0^d \langle D_t X, D_t Y \rangle - \operatorname{Rm}(\dot{\gamma}, X, \dot{\gamma}, Y) dt$$

the index form associated to γ on [0,d]. Since γ is minimizing along all curves with the same endpoints, for every vector field X on $\gamma([0,d])$ orthogonal to $\dot{\gamma}$ and with X(0)=0 and $X(d)=e_i$ we must have

$$0 \le I(J_i - X, J_i - X) = I(J_i, J_i) - 2I(J_i, X) + I(X, X).$$

Since J_i is a Jacobi field, one can easily check that $I(J_i, X) = I(J_i, J_i)$, hence $I(J_i, J_i) \leq J(X, X)$. Take $X(t) = \frac{t}{d}E_i(t)$, where $E_i(t)$ is the parallel transport of $e_i \in T_xM$ along γ . From the second variation formula for arc length we get

$$\frac{d^{2}}{ds^{2}}\Big|_{s=0} (d \circ \gamma_{i}) = \int_{0}^{d} |D_{t}J_{i}|^{2} - \operatorname{Rm}(\dot{\gamma}, J_{i}, \dot{\gamma}, J_{i}) dt = I(J_{i}, J_{i})$$

$$\leq I(X, X) = \int_{0}^{d} |D_{t}X|^{2} - \operatorname{Rm}(\dot{\gamma}, X, \dot{\gamma}, X) dt$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{d} |D_{t}X|^{2} + K|X|^{2} dt,$$

where we have used that $\sup_{p \in B_{R_0}} |\operatorname{Sec}_p| \le K$. Thus

$$\left. \frac{d^2}{ds^2} \right|_{s=0} (d \circ \gamma_i) \le \int_0^d |D_t X|^2 + K|X|^2 dt = \int_0^d \frac{1}{d^2} + K \frac{t^2}{d^2} dt = \frac{1}{d} \left(1 + K \frac{d^2}{3} \right).$$

Hence

$$d\Delta d = \sum_{i=2}^{n} \frac{d^2}{ds^2} \Big|_{s=0} (d \circ \gamma_i) \le n - 1 + K \frac{n-1}{3} d^2,$$

or equivalently

$$|\operatorname{div}(d\nabla d)(x) - n| = |d(x)\Delta d(x) + 1 - n| \le K \frac{n-1}{3} d^2 \le K \frac{n-1}{3} R^2,$$

and this completes the proof with $C(n) = \frac{n-1}{3} > 0$.

We can now prove the monotonicity formula.

Proof of Theorem 3.4. Since during the entire proof, the point $p_o \in M$ will be fixed, we will not specify the center of the balls in what follows, as this will always be $(p_o, 0)$ for balls inside \widetilde{M} and p_o for balls on M. We divide the proof into two steps.

Step 1. First, we show that if u is stationary for the energy $\mathcal{E}(v) = [v]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 + \int_M F(v)$ under inner variations, then its Caffarelli-Silvestre extension U is stationary for the energy

$$U \mapsto rac{eta_s}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^2 dV dz + \int_M F(U|_M) dV$$
,

under inner variations on \widetilde{M} given by vector fields Y on \widetilde{M} such that $Y|_{M}$ is tangent to M.

Recall that the Caffarelli-Silvestre extension of u is given by (39).

Let Y be a vector field on M such that $Y|_M$ is tangent to M, and let ψ_Y^t denote its flow at time t. Let also V_t be the Caffarelli-Silvestre extension of $u \circ \psi_{Y|_M}^t$, for any $t \in \mathbb{R}$. By the minimality of the extension in the energy space, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} \frac{\beta_{s}}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla(U \circ \psi_{Y}^{-t})|^{2} &= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left(\frac{\beta_{s}}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^{2} - \frac{\beta_{s}}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla(U \circ \psi_{Y}^{t})|^{2} \right) \\ &\leq \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left(\frac{\beta_{s}}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^{2} - \frac{\beta_{s}}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla V_{t}|^{2} \right) \\ &= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{[u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^{2} - [u \circ \psi_{Y}^{t}]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^{2}}{t} \\ &= \frac{d}{dt} \Big|_{t=0} [u \circ \psi_{Y}^{-t}]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^{2}, \end{split}$$

and likewise

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} \frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\tilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla(U \circ \psi_Y^{-t})|^2 &= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left(\frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\tilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla(U \circ \psi_Y^{-t})|^2 - \frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\tilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^2 \right) \\ &\geq \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left(\frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\tilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla V_{-t}|^2 - \frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\tilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^2 \right) \\ &= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{[u \circ \psi_Y^{-t}]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 - [u]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2}{t} \\ &= \frac{d}{dt} \Big|_{t=0} [u \circ \psi_Y^{-t}]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 \,. \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} \frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla (U \circ \psi_Y^{-t})|^2 = \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} [u \circ \psi_Y^{-t}]_{H^{s/2}}^2.$$

Since u is stationary for the energy $\mathcal{E}(v) = [v]_{H^{s/2}(M)}^2 + \int_M F(v) \, dV$ under inner variations, this shows that U is stationary for the energy $U \mapsto \frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^2 \, dV dz + \int_M F(U|_M) \, dV$ under inner variations on \widetilde{M} , with vector fields Y as above, and this concludes the first step.

Step 2. We now compute such an inner variation for a suitably chosen *Y*. First, the variation of the potential part of the energy is

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} \int_{M} F(u \circ \psi_{Y}^{-t}) dV = \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} \int_{M} F(u) J_{t}(p) dV_{p}$$

$$= \int_{M} F(u) \operatorname{div}_{g}(Y|_{M}) dV. \tag{59}$$

The quantity $\operatorname{div}_g(Y|_M)$ will be estimated later. We now focus on computing the variation for the Sobolev part of the energy. Once again, we change variables in the integral using the flow ψ_Y^t , obtaining

$$\int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla (U \circ \psi_Y^{-t})|^2 dV dz = \int_{\widetilde{M}} (z \circ \psi_Y^t)^{1-s} |\nabla (U \circ \psi_Y^{-t})|^2 \circ \psi_Y^t J_t(p, z) dV_p dz.$$
 (60)

Now, we choose the vector field Y. We take $Y=\eta(d)d\nabla d$, where $d=d_{\widetilde{g}}((p_\circ,0),\cdot)$ is the distance on \widetilde{M} from the point $(p_\circ,0)$ and $\eta=\eta_\delta$ is a single variable smooth function with $\eta\equiv 1$ on [0,R], decreasing to zero on $[R,R+\delta]$, and $\eta\equiv 0$ on $[R+\delta,+\infty)$. Since the distance $d_{\widetilde{g}}((p_\circ,0),\cdot)$ restricts to the distance $d_{\widetilde{g}}((p_\circ,0),\cdot)$ on M when computed on points on \widetilde{M} with z=0, clearly $Y|_M$ is tangent to M. We want to exchange the order of derivation and integration in (60). Hence, we compute separately the three terms that will appear in doing so. For the first term, using that $d_{\widetilde{g}}^2((p,z),(p_\circ,0))=d_{\widetilde{g}}^2(p,p_\circ)+z^2$ and the definition of Y we see that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} (z \circ \psi_Y^t)^{1-s} = (1-s)z^{-s}\eta(d)z = (1-s)z^{1-s}\eta(d).$$

As for the second term that will appear, a simple general computation —see for example the lines after Lemma 3.1 in [17]— shows that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0}|\nabla(U\circ\psi_Y^{-t})|^2(\psi_Y^t(x))=-2\langle\nabla_{\nabla U}Y,\nabla U\rangle.$$

Moreover, using the form chosen for Y we have that

$$\begin{split} \langle \nabla_{\nabla U} Y, \nabla U \rangle &= \langle \nabla_{\nabla U} (\eta(d) d \nabla d), \nabla U \rangle \\ &= \langle \nabla U, \nabla \eta(d) \rangle \langle d \nabla d, \nabla U \rangle + \eta(d) \langle \nabla_{\nabla U} (d \nabla d), \nabla U \rangle \\ &= \eta'(d) \langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle \langle d \nabla d, \nabla U \rangle + \eta(d) \langle \nabla_{\nabla U} (d \nabla d), \nabla U \rangle \\ &= d \eta'(d) |\langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle|^2 + \eta(d) \langle \nabla_{\nabla U} (d \nabla d), \nabla U \rangle \,. \end{split}$$

Notice that K is also an upper bound for all the sectional curvatures on \widetilde{M} in $\widetilde{B}_{R_o}(p_o,0)$ and that $\operatorname{inj}_M(p_o) = \operatorname{inj}_{\widetilde{M}}(p_o,0)$. Thus, by Lemma 3.6 applied to $V = \nabla U$,

$$\langle \nabla_{\nabla U} Y, \nabla U \rangle = d\eta'(d) |\langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle|^2 + \eta(d) (1 + O(\sqrt{KR})) |\nabla U|^2$$

for all $R < \min \left\{ R_{\circ}, \frac{1}{\sqrt{K}} \right\}$. Lastly, for the remaining factor in the integral, Lemma (3.7) gives that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} J_t = \widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(Y) = \eta'(d)d|\nabla d|^2 + \eta(d)\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(d\nabla d)$$

$$= d\eta'(d) + \eta(d)(n+1)(1+O(\sqrt{K}R)),$$

in $B_R(p_\circ)$, for $R < \min \left\{ R_\circ, \frac{1}{\sqrt{K}} \right\}$.

Now, analogously applying Lemma (3.7) on M instead of \widetilde{M} to (59), we already find an estimation for the potential energy:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0}\int_{M}F(u\circ\psi_{Y}^{-t})\,dV=\int_{M}F(u)\big(d\eta'(d)+\eta(d)n(1+O(\sqrt{K}R))\big)\,dV.$$

Moreover, it follows from (the local version of) Bonnet-Myers' theorem that $R_{\circ} < R_{\text{max}} := \inf_{M}(p_{\circ})/4 < \min\left\{\inf_{M}(p_{\circ}), \frac{1}{\sqrt{K}}\right\}$, and this will be our final choice of R_{max} for the statement. From now on, we always consider $R < R_{\circ} \le R_{\text{max}} = \inf_{M}(p_{\circ})/4$.

Regarding the Sobolev part of the energy, exchanging differentiation and integration and substituting the estimates we have obtained so far gives:

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} & \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla(U \circ \psi_{Y}^{-t})|^{2} \\ & = \int_{\widetilde{M}} (1-s) z^{1-s} \eta(d) |\nabla U|^{2} + z^{1-s} \big(-2d\eta'(d) |\langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle|^{2} - 2\eta(d) (1 + O(\sqrt{K}R)) |\nabla U|^{2} \big) \\ & + \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^{2} \big(d\eta'(d) + \eta(d) (n+1) (1 + O(\sqrt{K}R)) \big) \, dV dz \\ & = (n-s) (1 + O(\sqrt{K}R)) \int_{\widetilde{B}_{R+\delta}^{+}} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^{2} \eta(d) + \int_{\widetilde{B}_{R+\delta}^{+} \setminus \widetilde{B}_{R}^{+}} z^{1-s} d\eta'(d) \big(|\nabla U|^{2} - 2|\langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle|^{2} \big). \end{split}$$

Adding the expressions for the potential and Sobolev parts of the energy, we get

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} & \left(\frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\widetilde{M}} z^{1-s} |\nabla(U \circ \psi_Y^{-t})|^2 + \int_M F(u \circ \psi_Y^{-t})\right) \\ & = (n-s)(1+O(\sqrt{K}R)) \frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\widetilde{B}_{R+\delta}^+} \eta(d) z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^2 \\ & + \frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\widetilde{B}_{R+\delta}^+ \setminus \widetilde{B}_R^+} d\eta'(d) z^{1-s} (|\nabla U|^2 - 2\langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle^2) \\ & + n(1+O(\sqrt{K}R)) \int_{B_{R+\delta}} \eta(d) F(u) + \int_{B_{R+\delta} \setminus B_R} d\eta'(d) F(u) \,. \end{split}$$

By stationarity of u and Step 1 we know that the left-hand side is equal to 0 for every Y, thus the right-hand side vanishes for all $\eta = \eta_{\delta}$ defined as above. Since this holds for all $\delta > 0$, we now let $\delta \searrow 0$ so that η_{δ} converges to the characteristic function of [0, R]. This gives (for a.e. $R \in (0, R_{\circ})$)

$$\begin{split} 0 = &(n-s)(1+O(\sqrt{K}R))\frac{\beta_s}{2}\int_{\widetilde{B}_R^+}z^{1-s}|\nabla U|^2 - R\frac{\beta_s}{2}\int_{\partial\widetilde{B}_R^+}z^{1-s}|\nabla U|^2 + 2R\frac{\beta_s}{2}\int_{\partial^+\widetilde{B}_R^+}(\partial_\nu U)^2 \\ &+ n(1+O(\sqrt{K}R))\int_{B_R}F(u) - R\int_{\partial B_R}F(u). \end{split}$$

Rearranging the terms and multiplying by R^{-n+s-1} , we deduce that

$$\begin{split} & - \frac{(n-s)}{R^{n-s+1}} \left(\frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\widetilde{B}_R^+} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^2 + \int_{B_R} F(u) \right) + \frac{1}{R^{n-s}} \left(\frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\partial \widetilde{B}_R^+} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^2 + \int_{\partial B_R} F(u) \right) \\ & \geq - \frac{C\sqrt{K}}{R^{n-s}} \left(\frac{\beta_s}{2} \int_{\widetilde{B}_R^+} z^{1-s} |\nabla U|^2 + \int_{B_R} F(u) \right) + \frac{\beta_s}{R^{n-s}} \int_{\partial^+ \widetilde{B}_R^+} z^{1-s} \langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle^2 + \frac{s}{R^{n-s+1}} \int_{B_R} F(u) , \end{split}$$

for some absolute constant C > 0. In other words,

$$\Phi'(R) \ge -C\sqrt{K}\Phi(R) + \frac{\beta_s}{R^{n-s}} \int_{\partial^+ \widetilde{B}_R^+} z^{1-s} \langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle^2 + \frac{s}{R^{n-s+1}} \int_{B_R} F(u) \, dV,$$

and this implies, in particular, that

$$\frac{d}{dR}\Big(e^{C\sqrt{K}R}\Phi(R)\Big) \geq 0 \quad \text{for all} \ \ R < R_{\circ}.$$

Lastly, in the case where $M = \mathbb{R}^n$, $F \equiv 0$, $s \in (0,1)$ and $u = \chi_E - \chi_{E^c}$ is a stationary set for the fractional s-perimeter, instead of the two bounds used above

$$\langle \nabla_{\nabla U}(d\nabla d), \nabla U \rangle = (1 + O(\sqrt{K}R))|\nabla U|^2,$$

 $\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(d\nabla d) = (n+1)(1 + O(\sqrt{K}R)),$

given respectively by Lemmas 3.6 and 3.7, one has the equalities

$$\langle \nabla_{\nabla U}(d\nabla d), \nabla U \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} = |\nabla U|^2,$$

 $\operatorname{div}_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}}(d\nabla d) = n+1,$

where *U* is the extension of $u = \chi_E - \chi_{E^c}$. Thus, following the proof one finds the exact expression

$$\Phi'(R) = \frac{\beta_s}{R^{n-s}} \int_{\partial^+ \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_p^+(p_o,0)} z^{1-s} \langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle^2 dx dz \ge 0.$$

In particular, Φ is constant if and only if $\langle \nabla U, \nabla d \rangle = 0$, that is, if and only if E is dilation-invariant for dilations with center at $p_{\circ} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$. With this, we conclude the proof.

3.4 The fractional Sobolev energy under inner variations

We next study how the fractional Sobolev energy behaves under inner variations. For this, we need first to study how the singular kernel K_s behaves when translating its arguments under the flow of a vector field.

Proposition 3.8. Let (M, g) be a closed n-dimensional Riemannian manifold and $s \in (0, 2)$. Consider any smooth vector field $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$, and fix points $p, q \in M$. Writing ψ^t for the flow of X at time t, then the kernel satisfies

$$\left| \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \right|_{t=0} K_s(\psi^t(p), \psi^t(q)) \right| \le C(1 + K_s(p, q)). \tag{61}$$

for some constant $C = C(M, s, \ell, \max_{0 \le k \le \ell} \|\nabla^k X\|_{L^{\infty}(M)})$ which stays bounded for s away from 0 and 2.

Proof. This follows from the estimates of Theorem 2.12, in particular by (17) and (18). We prove the result just for $\ell=1$, as the general case just follows by induction by the very same arguments. Let R=R(M)>0 be such that the flatness assumption $FA_{\ell}(M,g,16R,p,\phi_p)$ holds for every $p\in M$; such an R exists by Remark 2.9. We split in two cases.

Case 1: $q \in \varphi_p(\mathcal{B}_{4R}(0))$.

In this case, denoting $K(x,y) := K_s(\varphi_p(x), \varphi_p(y))$ and k(x,z) := K(x,x+z) as in Theorem 2.12, we have that

$$K_s(\psi^t \circ \varphi_p(x), \psi^t \circ \varphi_p(y)) = K(\psi_p^t(x), \psi_p^t(y)) = k(\psi_p^t(x), \psi_p^t(y) - \psi_p^t(x)),$$

where ψ_p^t is the flow of $\xi = (\varphi_p)^* X$, i.e. the vector field $\xi = \xi_p \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{B}_{16R}(0))$ such that $X \circ \varphi_p = (\varphi_p)_* \xi$. Then, for all $x, y \in \mathcal{B}_{2R}(0)$ we have:

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt}\bigg|_{t=0} K(\psi_p^t(x), \psi_p^t(y)) &= \frac{d}{dt}\bigg|_{t=0} k(\psi_p^t(x), \psi_p^t(y) - \psi_p^t(x)) \\ &= \frac{\partial k}{\partial x^\alpha} (x, y - x) \xi^\alpha(x) + \frac{\partial k}{\partial z^\alpha} (x, y - x) (\xi^\alpha(x) - \xi^\alpha(y)) \,, \end{split}$$

where sum over repeated indices is assumed. Hence, by (17) of Theorem 2.12 we get

$$\left| \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} K(\psi_p^t(x), \psi_p^t(y)) \right| \le \frac{C}{|y-x|^{n+s}} \|\xi\|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{C}{|y-x|^{n+s+1}} \|D\xi\|_{L^{\infty}} |y-x|$$

$$\le \frac{C}{|y-x|^{n+s}} \le CK(x,y)$$

for some $C = C(n, s, \|\xi\|_{C^{0,1}})$, where in the last line we have also used Lemma 2.19. Finally, evaluating this inequality at x = 0 and $y = \varphi_p^{-1}(q)$ we obtain

$$\left|\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} K(\psi^t(p), \psi^t(q)) = \left|\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} K(\psi^t_p(0), \psi^t_p(y)) \leq CK(0, y) = CK_s(p, q),$$

as wanted.

Case 2: $q \notin \varphi_p(\mathcal{B}_{4R}(0))$. Then $FA_\ell(M, g, R, q, \varphi_q)$ holds and the sets $\varphi_p(\mathcal{B}_R(0))$ and $\varphi_q(\mathcal{B}_R(0))$ are disjoint. Hence, by Proposition 2.20 the kernel $K_{pq}(x,y) := K_s(\varphi_p(x), \varphi_q(y))$ is smooth (with uniform estimates on all derivatives) in the domain $\mathcal{B}_{R/2}(0) \times \mathcal{B}_{R/2}(0)$. Hence

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} K_s(\psi^t \circ \varphi_p(x), \psi^t \circ \varphi_q(x)) = \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} K_{pq}(\psi_p^t(x), \psi_p^t(y))
= \frac{\partial K_{pq}}{\partial x^\alpha}(x, y) \xi_p^\alpha(x) + \frac{\partial K_{pq}}{\partial y^\alpha}(x, y) \xi_q^\alpha(y).$$

Using Proposition 2.20 to bound the derivatives of K_{pq} , and then evaluating at (x,y) = (0,0) gives

$$\left|\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} K_s(\psi^t(p), \psi^t(q))\right| \leq \frac{C}{R^{n+s}},$$

for some $C = C(n, s, \|\xi_p\|_{L^{\infty}}, \|\xi_q\|_{L^{\infty}}).$

Putting together the two cases above, we get

$$\left|\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0}K_s(\psi^t(p),\psi^t(q))\right|\leq C(1+K_s(p,q)),$$

for some $C = C(M, n, s, ||X||_{C^1(M)})$ and conclude the proof.

We also record a version of Proposition 3.8, which depends only on local quantities:

Proposition 3.9. Let (M,g) be a closed n-dimensional Riemannian manifold and $s \in (0,2)$. Assume that the flatness assumption $FA_{\ell}(M,g,R,p,\phi)$ holds, and let $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ be a smooth vector field supported on $\phi(\mathcal{B}_{R/4})$. Writing ψ^t for the flow of X at time t, then for every $x,y \in \mathcal{B}_{R/4}(0)$ we have

$$\left| \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \right|_{t=0} K_s(\psi^t(\varphi(x)), \psi^t(\varphi(y))) \right| \le CK_s(\varphi(x), \varphi(y)) \le C \frac{\alpha_{n,s}}{|x-y|^{n+s}}, \tag{62}$$

for some constant $C = C(n, s, ||X||_{C^{\ell}(\varphi(\mathcal{B}_R))})$. Moreover, given T > 0 we have that, for all $0 \le t \le T$,

$$\left| \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} K_s(\psi^t(\varphi(x)), \psi^t(\varphi(y))) \right| \le C_T K_s(\varphi(x), \varphi(y)) \le C_T \frac{\alpha_{n,s}}{|x - y|^{n+s}}, \tag{63}$$

where $C_T = C_T(n, s, T, ||X||_{C^{\ell}(\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{R/4}))}).$

The constants stay bounded for s away from 0 and 2.

Proof. By scaling, we can assume R=1. The second inequality in both (62) and (63) then follows from Lemma 2.19. As for the first inequality of (62), it follows from the proof of Case 1 in Proposition 3.8, since it only depends on local estimates for X. Finally, (63) can be deduced from (62). Indeed, note that for all $1 \le k \le \ell$ and $0 \le t \le T$,

$$\left| \frac{d^k}{dt^k} K_s(\psi^t(\varphi(x)), \psi^t(\varphi(y))) \right| = \left| \frac{d^k}{dr^k} \right|_{r=0} K_s(\psi^{t+r}(\varphi(x)), \psi^{t+r}(\varphi(y))) \right| \le C_0 K_s(\psi^t(\varphi(x)), \psi^t(\varphi(y))), \quad (64)$$

with $C_0 = C_0(n, s, ||X||_{C^{\ell}(\varphi(\mathcal{B}_1))})$. Thus, we are only left with proving that

$$K_s(\psi^t(\varphi(x)), \psi^t(\varphi(y))) \le C_T K_s(\varphi(x), \varphi(y))$$

for some $C_T = C_T(n, s, T, ||X||_{C^{\ell}(\varphi(\mathcal{B}_1))})$. But this follows itself from (64), with k = 1, since we can write the inequality as

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left[e^{-C_0t}K_s(\psi^t(\varphi(x)),\psi^t(\varphi(y)))\right]\leq 0,$$

and integrating we find that

$$K_s(\psi^t(\varphi(x)), \psi^t(\varphi(y))) \le e^{C_0 T} K_s(\varphi(x), \varphi(y))$$

for every $0 \le t \le T$.

Proposition 3.8 can be used to bound time derivatives of the energy of "flown objects" by their energy at time zero. We show this for the fractional Sobolev energy:

Lemma 3.10. Let $s \in (0,2)$ and $v \in H^{s/2}(M)$ be a function with $|v| \le 1$. Let $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ be a smooth vector field and $v_t := v \circ \psi^{-t}$, where ψ^t is the flow of X at time t. Then, for all T > 0 there holds

$$\sup_{0 < t < T} \left| \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \mathcal{E}_{M}(v_{t}) \right| \leq C (1 + \mathcal{E}_{M}(v)),$$

for some constant $C = C(M, s, \ell, T, \max_{0 \le k \le \ell} \|\nabla^k X\|_{L^{\infty}(M)})$ which stays bounded for s away from 0 and 2..

Proof. Let *C* denote a constant that depends only on *M*, *s*, ℓ , *T* and $\max_{0 \le k \le \ell} \|\nabla^k X\|_{L^{\infty}(M)}$.

The idea of the proof is to change variables using the flow ψ^t in the corresponding integrals defining the Allen-Cahn energy, and after that to exchange integration and differentiation.

Let us start with the Sobolev part of the energy. We have, denoting by J_t the Jacobian of the flow:

$$\frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \mathcal{E}_{M}^{\text{Sob}}(v_{t}) = \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \iint |v(\psi^{-t}(p)) - v(\psi^{-t}(q))|^{2} K_{s}(p,q) dV_{p} dV_{q}$$

$$= \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \iint |v(p) - v(q)|^{2} K_{s}(\psi^{t}(p), \psi^{t}(q)) J_{t}(p) J_{t}(q) dV_{p} dV_{q}$$

$$= \iint |v(p) - v(q)|^{2} \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \Big[K_{s}(\psi^{t}(p), \psi^{t}(q)) J_{t}(p) J_{t}(q) \Big] dV_{p} dV_{q}. \tag{65}$$

Since 0 < t < T, the derivatives in time of the Jacobians J_t can of course be bounded by a constant C with the right dependencies. What remains in order to bound (65) by $C(1 + \mathcal{E}_M^{\text{Sob}}(v))$ is to control the first k-th derivatives in time of $K_s(\psi^t(p), \psi^t(q))$ by $C(1 + K_s(p,q))$, for all 0 < t < T. The main bound is given by Proposition 3.8, which gives for all $1 \le k \le \ell$:

$$\left| \frac{d^k}{dt^k} K_s(\psi^t(p), \psi^t(q)) \right| = \left| \frac{d^k}{dr^k} \right|_{r=0} K_s(\psi^{t+r}(p), \psi^{t+r}(q)) \right| \le C \left(1 + K_s(\psi^t(p), \psi^t(q)) \right). \tag{66}$$

Now, integrating this inequality for k = 1 similarly to how we proceeded in the proof of Lemma 3.9, we conclude that

$$K_s(\psi^t(p), \psi^t(q)) \le C(1 + K_s(p, q)), \text{ for all } 0 < t < T.$$
 (67)

We can now go back to (65) and apply the bounds that we just derived. We get that

$$\left| \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \mathcal{E}_{M}^{\text{Sob}}(v_{t}) \right| \leq \iint |v(p) - v(q)|^{2} \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \left[K_{s}(\psi^{t}(p), \psi^{t}(q)) J_{t}(p) J_{t}(q) \right] dV_{p} dV_{q}$$

$$\leq C \iint |v(p) - v(q)|^{2} (1 + K_{s}(p, q)) dV_{p} dV_{q}$$

$$= C(1 + \mathcal{E}_{M}^{\text{Sob}}(v))$$

for all 0 < t < T, where C has the right dependencies.

The potential part of the energy is simpler to deal with. Indeed, we have

$$\frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \mathcal{E}_{M}^{\text{Pot}}(v_{t}) = \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \int \varepsilon^{-s} W(v(\psi^{-t}(p))) dV_{p} = \int \varepsilon^{-s} W(v(p)) \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} J_{t}(p) dV_{p}, \tag{68}$$

from which we directly conclude that

$$\left|\frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}}\mathcal{E}_{M}^{\mathrm{Pot}}(v_{t})\right| \leq C\mathcal{E}_{M}^{\mathrm{Pot}}(v),$$

finishing the proof.

Lemma 3.10 has a local version, which comes from applying local estimates for the kernel instead.

Lemma 3.11. Let M satisfy the flatness assumptions $FA_{\ell}(N,g,p,R,\varphi)$. Let $s \in (0,2)$ and $v \in H^{s/2}(M)$ be a function with $|v| \leq 1$. Let $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ be a smooth vector field supported on $\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{R/2})$, and put $v_t := v \circ \psi_X^{-t}$, where ψ_X^t is the flow of X at time t. Then, for all T > 0 there holds

$$\sup_{0 < t < T} \left| \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \mathcal{E}_{\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{R/2})}(v_t) \right| \leq C(1 + \mathcal{E}_{\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{R/2})}(v)),$$

for some constant $C=C(s,\ell,T,\max_{0\leq k\leq \ell}\|\nabla^k X\|_{L^\infty(\phi(\mathcal{B}_{R/2}))})$ which stays bounded for s away from 0 and 2.

Proof. We modify the proof of Lemma 3.10 accordingly. First, by scaling, it suffices to prove the Lemma in the case R = 1. Since X is supported on $\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})$, the integrand in (65) is supported then on

$$\begin{split} (N\times N) \setminus (\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})^c \times \varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})^c) &= \left[(\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{2/3}) \times \varphi(\mathcal{B}_{2/3})) \setminus (\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})^c \times \varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})^c) \right] \cup \\ & \qquad \qquad \cup \left[(\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2}) \times (N \setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_{2/3}))) \cup ((N \setminus \varphi(\mathcal{B}_{2/3})) \times \varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})) \right], \end{split}$$

so that

$$\begin{split} &\left|\frac{d^{k}}{dt^{k}}\mathcal{E}_{M}^{\text{Sob}}(v_{t})\right| = \left|\frac{d^{k}}{dt^{k}}\mathcal{E}_{\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})}^{\text{Sob}}(v_{t})\right| \\ &= \left|\iint_{(\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{2/3})\times\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{2/3}))\setminus(\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})^{c}\times\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})^{c})} |v(p)-v(q)|^{2} \frac{d^{k}}{dt^{k}} \Big[K(\psi_{Y}^{t}(p),\psi_{Y}^{t}(q))J_{t}(p)J_{t}(q)\Big] dV_{p} dV_{q} \right. \\ &\left. + 2 \iint_{\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})\times(N\setminus\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{2/3}))} |v(p)-v(q)|^{2} \frac{d^{k}}{dt^{k}} \Big[K(\psi_{Y}^{t}(p),q)J_{t}(p)\Big] dV_{p} dV_{q} \right| \\ &\leq C \iint_{(\mathcal{B}_{2/3}\times\mathcal{B}_{2/3})\setminus(\mathcal{B}_{1/2}^{c}\times\mathcal{B}_{1/2}^{c})} |v(\varphi(x))-v(\varphi(y))|^{2} \left|\frac{d^{k}}{dt^{k}} \Big[K(\varphi(\psi_{X}^{t}(x)),\varphi(\psi_{X}^{t}(y)))J_{t}(\varphi(x))J_{t}(\varphi(y))\Big] \right| dx dy \\ &+ C \iint_{\mathcal{B}_{1/2}\times(N\setminus\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{2/3}))} |v(\varphi(x))-v(q)|^{2} \left|\frac{d^{k}}{dt^{k}} \Big[K(\varphi(\psi_{X}^{t}(x)),q)J_{t}(\varphi(x))\Big] \right| dx dV_{q} \,. \end{split}$$

Bounding the derivatives in time of the Jacobians by a constant with the right dependencies, using (62) to bound the kernel in the first double integral, and using (19) to bound the integral in q in the second double integral by a constant, we conclude that

$$\left| \frac{d^k}{dt^k} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{Sob}}_{\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})}(v_t) \right| \leq C(1 + \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{Sob}}_{\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})}(v)).$$

Regarding the potential part of the energy, from the computation in (68) we readily find that

$$\left| \frac{d^{\ell}}{dt^{\ell}} \mathcal{E}_{\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})}^{\text{Pot}}(v_t) \right| \le C \mathcal{E}_{\varphi(\mathcal{B}_{1/2})}^{\text{Pot}}(v) \tag{69}$$

where *C* has the right dependencies, which completes the proof.

3.5 Estimates for the extension problem

Lemma 3.12. Let $s \in (0,2)$ and M satisfy the flatness assumption $FA_2(M,g,2,p,\varphi)$. Let also $U: \widetilde{B}_2^+(p,0) \to \mathbb{R}$ be any function solving

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}U)=0$$
 in $\widetilde{B}_2^+(p,0)$,

and let u be its trace on $B_2(p)$. Assume also $U \in L^{\infty}(\widetilde{B}_2^+(p,0))$ and u = 0 in $B_{3/2}(p)$. Then there exists C = C(n) > 0 such that

$$|z^{1-s}|\widetilde{\nabla}U(x,z)| \leq \frac{C}{s} ||U||_{L^{\infty}(\widetilde{B}_{6/5}^{+}(p,0))}.$$

for every $(q,z) \in \widetilde{B}_1^+(p,0)$.

Proof. Let *C* denote a constant that depends only on *n*. This estimate is proved by a barrier argument. Let $\alpha, \beta > 0$ to be chosen later, and for $q_0 \in B_{11/10}(p)$ define

$$b_{q_{\circ}}(q,z) := \frac{\alpha}{2} |\varphi^{-1}(q) - \varphi^{-1}(q_{\circ})|^2 - \beta(z^2 - 2z^s).$$

Denote by Δ_g the Laplace-Beltrami operator of (M,g). Then, by $\text{FA}_2(M,g,2,p,\varphi)$, for $(x,z) \in \widetilde{B}_{6/5}^+$ there holds $|\Delta_g b_{q_\circ}(q,z)| \leq C$. Moreover

$$(\partial_{zz} + \frac{1-s}{z}\partial_z)z^2 = 2s$$
 and $(\partial_{zz} + \frac{1-s}{z}\partial_z)z^s = 0$.

Hence

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}b_{q_\circ})=z^{1-s}\left(\Delta_g b_{q_\circ}+\partial_{zz}b_{q_\circ}+rac{1-s}{z}\partial_z b_{q_\circ}
ight)\leq z^{1-s}(C\alpha-2seta)\leq 0$$
 ,

provided we take $\beta = C\alpha/s$.

Since U=0 in $B_{3/2}(p)\times\{0\}$ clearly $|U|\leq b_{q_\circ}(\cdot,0)$ in $B_{6/5}(p)\times\{0\}$. Moreover, for every $(x,z)\in\partial^+\widetilde{B}^+_{6/5}(p,0)$ there holds

$$b_{q_{\circ}}(q,z) \ge C\alpha - \beta(z^2 - 2z^s) \ge C\alpha \ge \|U\|_{L^{\infty}(\widetilde{B}^{+}_{6/5}(p,0))} \ge U(x,z)$$

provided we choose $\alpha = C\|U\|_{L^{\infty}(\widetilde{B}^{+}_{6/5}(p,0))}$.

Hence, with this choice of α and β , $|U| \leq b_{q_0}$ on the full boundary $\partial \widetilde{B}_{6/5}^+(p,0)$. Since also U solves $\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}U) = 0$ in $\widetilde{B}_{6/5}^+(p,0)$, by the maximum principle we get

$$|U(q_{\circ},z)| \le b_{q_{\circ}}(q_{\circ},z) \le \frac{Cz^{s}}{s} ||U||_{L^{\infty}(\widetilde{B}_{6/5}^{+}(p,0))}, \tag{70}$$

for $(q_{\circ}, z) \in \widetilde{B}_{11/10}^+(p, 0)$. Moreover, by standard (interior) gradient estimates for uniformly elliptic equations, for all $(q, z) \in \widetilde{B}_1^+(p, 0)$ we have

$$|\widetilde{\nabla}U(q,z)| \leq \|\widetilde{\nabla}U\|_{L^{\infty}(\widetilde{B}^{+}_{z/100}(q,z))} \leq \frac{C}{z} \|U\|_{L^{\infty}(\widetilde{B}^{+}_{z/50}(q,z))},$$

which, since $\widetilde{B}_{z/50}^+(q,z) \subset \widetilde{B}_{11/10}^+(p,0)$, together with (70) implies

$$|\widetilde{\nabla} U(x,z)| \leq \frac{C}{s} z^{s-1} ||U||_{L^{\infty}(\widetilde{B}_{6/5}^+)},$$

and this concludes the proof.

Lemma 3.13. Let $s_0 \in (0,2)$, $s \in (s_0,2)$. Consider the Riemannian manifold (\mathbb{R}^n,g) with $(1-\frac{1}{100})|v|^2 \le g_{ij}(x)v^iv^j \le (1+\frac{1}{100})|v|^2$ and $\|g_{ij}\|_{C^{1,1}(\overline{\mathbb{R}^n})} \le 1$. Let also $u: \mathbb{R}^n \to [-1,1]$ and $U: \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to [-1,1]$ be the extension of u (in the sense of Theorem 2.24). Then

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}_{1}^{+}(0,0)} |\widetilde{\nabla} U|^{2} z^{1-s} dV dz \le C \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \times \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus (\mathcal{B}_{2}^{c} \times \mathcal{B}_{2}^{c})} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^{2}}{|x - y|^{n+s}} dx dy, \tag{71}$$

with C depending only on n and s_0 .

Proof. We proceed as in [8, Proposition 7.1]. Assume without loss of generality that $\int_{\mathcal{B}_2} u(x)dx = 0$. Let $\xi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a cutoff function such that $\xi = 1$ in $\mathcal{B}_{3/2}(0)$ and it is compactly supported in $\mathcal{B}_2(0)$. We write $u = u\xi + u(1 - \xi) = u_1 + u_2$ and $U = U_1 + U_2$.

On the one hand, since u_1 is compactly supported we have

$$\begin{split} \beta_{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} z^{1-s} |\widetilde{\nabla} U_{1}|^{2} dV dz &= \|u_{1}\|_{H^{s/2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}, \mathcal{S})} \\ &= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \times \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus (\mathcal{B}_{2}^{c} \times \mathcal{B}_{2}^{c})} |u_{1}(x) - u_{1}(y)|^{2} K(x, y) \ dV_{x} dV_{y} \\ &\leq C \alpha_{n, s} \iint_{\mathcal{B}_{2} \times \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^{2}}{|x - y|^{n + s}} \xi^{2}(x) \ dx dy + C \alpha_{n, s} \iint_{\mathcal{B}_{2} \times \mathbb{R}^{n}} |u(x)|^{2} \frac{|\xi(x) - \xi(y)|^{2}}{|x - y|^{n + s}} \ dx dy \\ &\leq C \alpha_{n, s} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \times \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus (\mathcal{B}_{2}^{c} \times \mathcal{B}_{2}^{c})} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^{2}}{|x - y|^{n + s}} \ dx dy + C \int_{\mathcal{B}_{2}} |u(x)|^{2} dx. \end{split}$$

Moreover, using the fractional Poincaré inequality (recall $\int_{\mathcal{B}_2} u(x) dx = 0$):

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}_2} |u(x)|^2 dx \le C\alpha_{n,s} \iint_{\mathcal{B}_2 \times \mathcal{B}_2} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy \le C\alpha_{n,s} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy =: \mathbf{I}_{s,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\mathcal{B}_s^c \times \mathcal{B}_s^c)} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} dx dy$$

On the other hand (using again $\int_{\mathcal{B}_2} u(y)dy = 0$)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{u(x)^{2}}{(1+|x|^{2})^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} dx = \iint \frac{(u(x)-u(y))^{2}}{(1+|x|^{2})^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} \frac{\chi_{\mathcal{B}_{2}}(y)}{|\mathcal{B}_{2}|} dx dy - \iint \frac{u(y)^{2}}{(1+|x|^{2})^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} \frac{\chi_{\mathcal{B}_{2}}(y)}{|\mathcal{B}_{2}|} dx dy \leq CI,$$

and by Holder inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|u(x)|}{(1+|x|^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} dx \le \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|u(x)|^2}{(1+|x|^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} dx \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{(1+|x|^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} dx \right)^{1/2} \le CI^{1/2}.$$

Claim. There is C = C(n) > 0 such that for $(x, z) \in \mathcal{B}_1^+$

$$z^{1-s}|\widetilde{\nabla}U_2(x,z)| \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|u_2(y)|}{(1+|y|^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} dy.$$
 (72)

We postpone the proof of this claim and first see how to conclude the proof of Lemma 3.13 with it. By the claim, if $(x, z) \in \mathcal{B}_1^+$ then

$$|z^{1-s}|\widetilde{\nabla}U_2(x,z)| \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|u_2(y)|}{(1+|y|^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} dy \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|u(y)|}{(1+|y|^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} dy \le C I^{1/2}$$

But then the inequality

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}_{1}^{+}}z^{1-s}|\widetilde{\nabla}U_{2}|^{2}dxdz \leq C\mathrm{I}^{1/2}\int_{\mathcal{B}_{1}^{+}}|\widetilde{\nabla}U_{2}|dxdz \leq C\mathrm{I}^{1/2}\bigg(\int_{\mathcal{B}_{1}^{+}}z^{1-s}|\widetilde{\nabla}U_{2}|^{2}dxdz\bigg)^{1/2}\bigg(\int_{\mathcal{B}_{1}^{+}}z^{s-1}dxdz\bigg)^{1/2},$$

gives

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}_1^+} z^{1-s} |\widetilde{\nabla} U_2|^2 dx dz \le CI,$$

and the lemma follows.

It only remains to prove (72). Let $H_N(x,y,t)$ be the heat kernel of $N:=(\mathbb{R}^n,g)$. By (38) the fractional Poisson kernel⁷ $\mathbb{P}_N:\mathbb{R}^n\times\mathbb{R}^n\times(0,\infty)\to[0,\infty)$ of N can be represented as

$$\mathbb{P}_{N}(x,y,z) = \frac{z^{s}}{2^{s}\Gamma(s/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} H_{N}(x,y,t) e^{-\frac{z^{2}}{4t}} \frac{dt}{t^{1+s/2}},$$

and the solution U_2 to the extension problem with trace u_2 is $U_2(x,z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \mathbb{P}_N(x,y,z)u_2(y) dV_y$. Then, by Lemma 2.13 we have that \mathbb{P}_N is comparable (up to dimensional constants) to the fractional Poisson kernel of \mathbb{R}^n with its standard metric, that is

$$cs \frac{z^s}{(|x-y|^2+z^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} \le \mathbb{P}_N(x,y,z) \le Cs \frac{z^s}{(|x-y|^2+z^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}},$$

for some C, c > 0 dimensional. Hence, for every $(x, z) \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_{6/5}^+$

$$|U_2(x,z)| \leq Cs \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|u_2(y)|}{(|x-y|^2+z^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} dy \leq Cs \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{B}_2} \frac{|u_2(y)|}{|x-y|^{n+s}} dy.$$

Since $x \in \mathcal{B}_{6/5}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{B}_2$ there holds $|x - y| \ge \frac{1}{100} \sqrt{1 + |y|^2}$, and hence

$$||U_2||_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}_{6/5}^+)} \leq Cs \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|u_2(y)|}{(1+|y|^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}} dy.$$

From here, the result follows directly by Lemma 3.12.

We will now give an interpolation result for the extended energy. We will use the following standard interpolation result on a Euclidean ball:

Proposition 3.14. *Let* $s \in (0,1)$, and let $u : \mathcal{B}_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^n \to [-1,1]$ be a function of bounded variation. Then,

$$\iint_{\mathcal{B}_1 \times \mathcal{B}_1} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n + s}} \, dx \, dy \le \frac{C(n)}{(1 - s)s} [u]_{BV(\mathcal{B}_1)}^s ||u||_{L^1(\mathcal{B}_1)}^{1 - s} \, .$$

Proof. See for instance Proposition 4.2 in [6]; see also [4].

Lemma 3.15. Let $s_0 \in (0,1)$ and $s \in (s_0,1)$. Let M satisfy flatness assumptions $FA_1(M,g,1,p,\varphi)$. Let also $U: \widetilde{B}_1^+(p,0) \to (-1,1)$ be any function solving

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{div}}(z^{1-s}\widetilde{\nabla}U) = 0, \tag{73}$$

and let u be its trace on $B_1(p)$. Then for all $\varrho > 0$, $R \ge 1$, $k \in \mathbb{R}$ and $q \in B_{1/2}(p)$ such that $B_{R\varrho}(q) \subset B_{3/4}(p)$,

$$\varrho^{s-n}\beta_{s}\int_{\widetilde{B}_{\varrho}^{+}(q,0)}z^{1-s}|\widetilde{\nabla}U|^{2}dVdz \leq \frac{C}{R^{s}} + \frac{C}{1-s}\left(\varrho^{-n}\int_{B_{R\varrho}(q)}|u+k|dV\right)^{1-s}\left(\varrho^{1-n}\int_{B_{R\varrho}(q)}|\nabla u|dV\right)^{s},$$

where the constant C depends only on n and s_0 .

⁷Which equals $\sigma_{n,s} \frac{z^s}{(|x-y|^2+z^2)^{\frac{n+s}{2}}}$ on \mathbb{R}^n with its standard metric, for some normalization constant $\sigma_{n,s} > 0$.

Proof. Let us show that if U and U' are two different solutions $\widetilde{B}_1^+(p,0) \to (-1,1)$ of (73) with the same trace u on $B_{3/4}(p)$, then

$$\int_{\widetilde{B}_{\rho}^{+}(q,0)} z^{1-s} \left(|\widetilde{\nabla} U|^{2} - |\widetilde{\nabla} U'|^{2} \right) dV dz \le C \int_{\widetilde{B}_{\rho}^{+}(q,0)} z^{1-s} |\widetilde{\nabla} U'|^{2} dV dz. \tag{74}$$

Indeed, by Lemma 3.12 (rescaled) we have $z^{1-s} |\widetilde{\nabla}(U - U')| \leq C$ in $\widetilde{B}_{1/2}^+(p,0)$. Thus, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\widetilde{B}_{\ell}^{+}(q,0)} z^{1-s} \left(|\widetilde{\nabla} U|^{2} - |\widetilde{\nabla} U'|^{2} \right) dV dz &= \int_{\widetilde{B}_{\ell}^{+}(q,0)} z^{1-s} \left(\widetilde{\nabla} (U - U') \right) \cdot \left(\widetilde{\nabla} (U + U') \right) dV dz \\ &\leq C \left(\int_{\widetilde{B}_{\ell}^{+}(q,0)} z^{s-1} dV dz \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\widetilde{B}_{\ell}^{+}(q,0)} z^{1-s} \left(|\widetilde{\nabla} U|^{2} + |\widetilde{\nabla} U'|^{2} \right) dV dz \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\widetilde{B}_{\ell}^{+}(q,0)} z^{1-s} \left(|\widetilde{\nabla} U|^{2} - |\widetilde{\nabla} U'|^{2} \right) dV dz + C \int_{\widetilde{B}_{\ell}^{+}(q,0)} z^{1-s} |\widetilde{\nabla} U'|^{2} dV dz \end{split}$$

Thus (74) follows.

Now let g_{ij} be the components of the metric in the coordinates φ^{-1} , $\eta \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}_1)$ be a nonnegative smooth cut-off function satisfying $\eta \equiv 1$ in $\mathcal{B}_{3/4}$, and put $g'_{ij} = g_{ij}\eta + \delta_{ij}(1-\eta)$, a metric defined in the whole \mathbb{R}^n . Thanks to (74) it is enough to prove the lemma for the manifold (\mathbb{R}^n, g') with p = 0 and with U replaced by the (unique!) bounded solution U' of (73) (with respect to the metric g') in all of $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}_+$. But in this case we can use Lemma 3.13 (rescaled) and obtain

$$\begin{split} \varrho^{s-n} \int_{\widetilde{B}_{\varrho}^{+}} z^{1-s} |\widetilde{\nabla} U'|^{2} dV dz &\leq C \varrho^{s-n} \iint_{(\mathbb{R}^{n} \times \mathbb{R}^{n}) \setminus (\mathcal{B}_{2\varrho}^{c} \times \mathcal{B}_{2\varrho}^{c})} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^{2}}{|x - y|^{n+s}} dx dy \\ &\leq C \varrho^{s-n} 2 \iint_{\mathcal{B}_{R\varrho} \times \mathcal{B}_{R\varrho} \cup \mathcal{B}_{\varrho} \times \mathcal{B}_{R\varrho}^{c}} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^{2}}{|x - y|^{n+s}} dx dy \\ &\leq C \varrho^{s-n} \bigg(\iint_{\mathcal{B}_{R\varrho} \times \mathcal{B}_{R\varrho}} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^{2}}{|x - y|^{n+s}} dx dy + \frac{C \varrho^{n-s}}{R^{s}} \bigg) \,, \end{split}$$

where we have used that

$$\iint_{\mathcal{B}_{\varrho}\times\mathcal{B}_{R\varrho}^{c}}\frac{|u(x)-u(y)|^{2}}{|x-y|^{n+s}}dxdy\leq C\int_{\mathcal{B}_{\varrho}}\left(\int_{\mathcal{B}_{R\varrho}}\frac{1}{(|y|-\varrho)^{n+s}}dy\right)dx\leq \frac{C\varrho^{n}}{(R\varrho)^{s}}.$$

We conclude using the interpolation inequality of Proposition 3.14, since the modulus of the Euclidean gradient in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} and the metric gradient $|\widetilde{\nabla} U|$ are comparable.

Acknowledgements

M.C. would like to thank the FIM (Institute for Mathematical Research) at ETH Zürich for the wonderful hospitality during his many stays in 2022-2023. J.S. is supported by the European Research Council under Grant Agreement No 948029. E.F-S has been partially supported by the CFIS Mobility Grant, by the MOBINT-MIF Scholarship from AGAUR, and the support of a fellowship from "la Caixa" Foundation (ID 100010434)". The fellowship code is "LCF/BQ/EU22/11930072".

References

[1] L. Ambrosio, G. De Philippis, and L. Martinazzi, *Gamma-convergence of nonlocal perimeter functionals*, Manuscripta Math. 134 (2011), 377—403.

- [2] D. G. Aronson, Bounds for the fundamental solution of a parabolic equation, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 73 (1967), 890-896.
- [3] V. Banica, M. M. González, and M. Sáez, Some constructions for the fractional Laplacian on noncompact manifolds, Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 31 (2015), no. 2, 681–712.
- [4] H. Brézis and P. Minorescu, *Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequalities and non-inequalities: The full story*, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 35 (2018), 1355–1376.
- [5] J. Bourgain, H. Brezis, and P. Mironescu, *Another look at Sobolev spaces*, Optimal control and partial differential equations, 439-455, IOS, Amsterdam, (2001).
- [6] L. Brasco, E. Lindgren and E. Parini, *The fractional Cheeger problem*, Interfaces Free Bound. 16 (2014) 419–458.
- [7] X. Cabré and E. Cinti, *Sharp energy estimates for nonlinear fractional diffusion equations*, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 49 (2014), 233–269.
- [8] L. Caffarelli, J.-M. Roquejoffre, and O. Savin, *Nonlocal minimal surfaces*, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 63 (2010), 1111–1144.
- [9] L. Caffarelli and L. Silvestre, *An extension problem related to the fractional Laplacian*, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 32 (2007), 1245–1260.
- [10] L. Caffarelli and P. R. Stinga, *Fractional elliptic equations, Caccioppoli estimates and regularity*, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincare (C) Anal. Non Lineaire 33 (2016), 767–807.
- [11] L. Caffarelli and E. Valdinoci, *Uniform estimates and limiting arguments for nonlocal minimal surfaces*, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 41 (2011), 203–240.
- [12] M. Caselli and L. Gennaioli, Asymptotics as $s \to 0^+$ of the fractional perimeter on Riemannian manifolds., arxiv preprint, 2023.
- [13] M. Caselli, E. Florit-Simon and J. Serra, Yau's conjecture for nonlocal minimal surfaces, arxiv preprint, 2023.
- [14] T. Colding and W. Minicozzi, *A Course in Minimal Surfaces*, Volume 121 di Graduate studies in mathematics, ISSN 1065-7339, American Mathematical Soc., 2011.
- [15] J. Dávila, On an open question about functions of bounded variation, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 15 (2002), 519–527.
- [16] L.C. Evans, *Partial differential equations*, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 19, American Mathematical Society, 2010.
- [17] P. Gaspar, The Second Inner Variation of Energy and the Morse Index of Limit Interfaces., J. Geom. Anal. 30 (2020), 69—85.
- [18] A. Grigoríyan, *Estimates of heat kernels on Riemannian manifolds*. Spectral theory and geometry (Edinburgh, 1998), 140–225, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., 273, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1999.
- [19] A. Grigoríyan, *Heat Kernel and Analysis on Manifolds*, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RIInternational Press, Boston, MA, 2009. xviii+482 pp.
- [20] V. Millot, Y. Sire and K. Wang, Asymptotics for the Fractional Allen–Cahn Equation and Stationary Nonlocal Minimal Surfaces, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal 231 (2019), 1129–1216.
- [21] P. R. Stinga, Fractional powers of second order partial differential operators: extension problem and regularity theory, PhD Thesis, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid (2010).

[22] S. T. Yau, Seminar on Differential Geometry, vol. 102 in Annals of Mathematics Studies, Princeton University Press (1982), 669–706.

MICHELE CASELLI Scuola Normale Superiore

Piazza dei Cavalieri 7, 56126 Pisa, Italy

E-mail address: michele.caselli@sns.it

ENRIC FLORIT-SIMON

Department of Mathematics, ETH Zürich Rämistrasse 101, 8092 Zürich, Switzerland E-mail address: enric.florit@math.ethz.ch

Joaquim Serra

Department of Mathematics, ETH Zürich Rämistrasse 101, 8092 Zürich, Switzerland

E-mail address: joaquim.serra@math.ethz.ch